
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION and TOWNSHIP BOARD 
AGENDA FOR SPECIAL MEETING,  

12/13/2023, 7pm  
 Whitewater Township Hall 

5777 Vinton Road, Williamsburg, MI  49690 
Phone 231-267-5141/Fax 231-267-9020 

 
Zoom Link:  https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87889107802?pwd=COZFRdtF4vT8g0LtQua9iKD5alJSse.1 

 Meeting ID:  878 8910 7802   Passcode: 942715 

 

1.    Mic Check / Call to Order / Pledge of Allegiance 
2.  Roll Call of Members  
3.  Set/Adjust Meeting Agenda  
4.  Declaration of Conflict of Interest  
5.    Public Comment – Any person shall be permitted to address a meeting of the PC. Public  

comments shall be carried out in accordance with the following rules and procedures:  
a. Comments shall be directed to the PC, with questions directed to the Chair.  
b. Any person wishing to address the PC shall speak from the lectern (or use the raise 

hand feature if Zoom is being utilized) and state his/her name and address.  
c. Persons may address the PC on matters that are relevant to Township planning and 

zoning issues.  
d. No person shall be allowed to speak more than once on the same matter, excluding 

the time needed to answer a PC member’s questions.  
e. Public comment shall be limited to 3 minutes per person. 

6.  Special Meeting Business:  
a. Master Plan  
b. Zoning Project  
c. FY 2024/2025 Budget Discussion  
d. Metropolitan Planning Organization  
e. Anything Else Related to Planning Commission 

 
7.  Next Meeting Date; PC – January 3rd, 2024 
8.  Public Comment 
9.  Commission Discussion/Comments 
10.  Adjournment 
 

Whitewater Township will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services to individuals 
with disabilities who are planning to attend contact the Township Supervisor at 231-267-5141 

 

1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87889107802?pwd=COZFRdtF4vT8g0LtQua9iKD5alJSse.1


Whitewater 
Township 

Master Plan 
and Zoning 

Update

W H I T E W A T E R  

T O W N S H I P  P L A N N I N G  

C O M M I S S I O N

Photo Credit - Horizon Drone Services 

2



3



4



Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec. 

Planning Commission discussion 
about citizen engagement and 
community outreach.  ROS 
formation & meetings   

Special joint 
township 
board and 
planning 
commission 
Meeting

Introductory 
Chapters (1-
4) of the 
Master Plan 
Released for 
comment.

Survey responses  returned and results 
Tabulated 

Report on 
survey 
results 
released 

Master plan 
open house 

Master 
Plan  
Workshop

Report of 
results from 
open house 
and 
workshop 
provided

Work on 
survey 
questions and 
methodology Planning for master plan 

open house & workshop 

Planning 
for 
Workshop

Special joint 
township 
board and 
planning 
commission 
meeting

Updated 
chapters (1-
4) of the 
master plan 
released

Master Plan

5



Photo Credit - Horizon Drone Services 

6



Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec. 

Release Final 3-4 Chapters to PC for 
Review and Comment

PC 
Review 
& Edits 

Full 
Master 
Plan 
Draft 
Provided

Begin formal adoption process per MPEA (distribution, hearings, etc.)

7



8



T H E  P R I M A R Y  F O C U S  I S  T O  C L A R I F Y

9



W H A T  I S  C U R R E N T LY  B E I N G  AV O I D E D

10



D E V E L O P I N G  A  L I S T  O F  P O T E N T I A L  
A M E N D M E N T S  F O R  T H E  F U T U R E

11



July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec. 
Meetings with Clerk, Bob Hall, Ron 
Popp, etc. 

Work on reviewing materials and 
generating draft material   

Draft Articles 1-4 discussed at PC Meetings  PC Discussion on 
Zoning Map 

Work on Zoning Map

Joint Meeting with 
TB and PC to discuss 

12



Jan Feb Mar Apr. May June 

Continue producing draft Articles and discussions at PC Meetings  

Continue work on zoning map

13



 

Township Board:  If you have not already 
reviewed the Master Plan DRAFT Chapters 1-4 
please do so here: 

 
htps://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/wor
king_document_wwt_master_plan_9_13_23r.pdf 

 

14

https://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/working_document_wwt_master_plan_9_13_23r.pdf
https://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/working_document_wwt_master_plan_9_13_23r.pdf


DATE:  November 28, 2023 

TO:  Whitewater Township Planning Commission 
Whitewater Township Resident Outreach Subcommittee (ROS) 

FROM:  Barry Hicks, AICP, LIAA 

RE:  Master Plan Goals and Strategies Input Summery 

Whitewater Township residents participated in a number of public engagement events. Opportunities 
included a survey and two public workshops. The survey was conducted in coordination with Networks 
Northwest and the results are available on the township’s website.  The following report provides a 
summary of the results from the public workshops. 

Public engagement activities were kicked off in June of 2023 with the launch of a public survey that was 
mailed to residents. Copies of the survey were mailed to residents and the township received over 600 
responses. Survey questions included a mix of multiple‐choice questions and open‐ended comment 
questions. Question topics focused on the current and future growth of the township including eliciting 
opinions about the Town’s character and future development. After responses were received, the 
township worked with their consultants, North Place Planning, LLC, and the Land Information Access 
Association (LIAA), to develop a series of two public input sessions: 

 Session 1 – Public Open House

Date:    Thursday, September 28, 2023
Location:   Mill Creek Elementary School
Participants:  Approximately 80‐100

This session was a walk‐through style open house where participants could attend at their
convenience anytime between the hours of 4‐7pm.  Five stations were setup throughout the
room each station focused on a specific topic area.  Each station was comprised of multiple
poster‐boards that contained information specific to the topic. They also each had activities that
were designed to allow participants to vote on certain questions and leave open‐ended
feedback.

 Session 2 – Goals and Strategies

Date:    Tuesday, November 7, 2023
Location:   Mill Creek Elementary School
Participants:  Approximately 60+

Participants viewed a presentation that recapped the results of the survey and the open house.
They then received recommended Goals and Strategies that were developed by the consultants
that were based on the results of the input received through the public survey as well as the
open house.  Participants then reviewed the recommended goals and strategies and were asked
to agree, disagree, suggest edits, or suggest new goals and strategies.  They were also asked to
consider which goals they would like to see prioritized highest and to rank each one.

TB:  This is enclosed for your review of Citizen Engagement Efforts and results.  
This document satisfies LIAA's contract deliverables.  

15



Participants were split into four groups and each group focused on a specific topic area. After 
group discussions, each group provided a presentation to the rest of the participants to explain 
their results. 

Advertising the public workshop began a few weeks prior to each meeting with announcements on the 
township’s website and on signs placed along major roads throughout the community. 

Public Open‐House 

Participants were asked to provide feedback at five stations set up around the cafeteria at Mill Creek 
Elementary School.  Each station discussed various topics such as zoning/land‐use, infrastructure, and 
development.  Below is a summary of the feedback received from each station at the open house. 

**Attached to this memo: Photos of each of the stations from the open house with the results. 

Public Open House Summarized results 

2015 Master Plan 

 Respect private property rights.
 Encouraging new development.
 Do NOT streamline the permit process – what does this mean?  Do residents not like the current

the process? What is working or not working in the ordinances or permit process?
o Identify what ordinances need work.
o Differentiate between what should be policies vs guidelines.
o Clarify zoning map.

Zoning/Land‐Use 

Preserve, Enhance and Transform 

 Downtown Whitewater Township needs some attention – what specifically do we need to
address here?

 Corner of Crisp and Moore – traffic concerns, possibly a stop sign needed.
 Petobego Creek Natural Area – some attention needed.
 Battle Creek Natural Area – liked, but might need some attention.
 Whitewater Township Park – liked, but might need some attention.
 Trails in the southern portion of township are liked.
 New development near M‐72 and Baggs road – potentially some room for resident concerns.

Alternative Energy 

 A mix of support or dissent for alternative energy, specifically solar fields – concerns about siting
and visual impact.

 Some comments about wind energy – similar concerns to solar regarding visual impact.
 Some comments and interest received regarding net‐zero emissions housing.

Rural Character 

 Generally, all of the pictures received positive feedback with the exception of the red‐
commercial/newer looking barn.

16



Development 

Housing 

 Most commercial development should be focused along M‐72 near Williamsburg Road
Intersection.

 Medium to high density residential areas should be near M‐72 near Williamsburg.  Some votes
also focused near M‐72 between Skegemog Point Road and Baggs Road.

 Most people favored low‐density, single family dwellings on larger lot sizes with some feedback
received indicating the need for smaller lot sizes to allow for lower‐ to moderate‐income
housing.

 Traditional medium to high density single‐family residential neighborhoods as well as higher‐
density apartments or condos were not favored.

o NOTE: Some exceptions for higher‐density apartments or condos were favored with
more green/open space.  Lower height (one‐ to three‐ story max) would be better than
anything taller.

Commercial 

 Detached, single‐unit Commercial development along the M‐72 corridor is preferred.
 Traditional Rural American architectural styling (such as a colonial or craftsman look with gables

or hip‐roofs and porches), is preferred with materials such as wood or metal siding and roofs.

Downtown 

 There is support to develop a more traditional downtown area in Williamsburg.
 Traditional look with seating, pedestrian scale lighting and permeable/transparent storefronts

are preferred.

Infrastructure 

Trails 

 Generally, participants felt the trails were a positive attribute of the township.
 Some comments received indicated there could be better signage at trail heads to help locate

and identify trails.
 Bike trails and walking trails could be separated.

M‐72 and Traffic 

 Participants were overwhelmingly supportive of limiting curb‐cuts along M‐72
o Improve safety and reduce the number of opportunities for accidents.
o Combined curb‐cuts for multiple businesses.

 Some concerns around who will pay for these improvements.

Facilities 

 EMS and fire facility should use some improvement.  Some felt a new facility was needed or a
combined EMS/Fire/Town Hall facility could be constructed.

 Public Transportation – while many felt traffic control and safety were a high priority, the
integration of more public transportation was not necessary at this time.

17



 Town Hall ‐ Many comments received indicated the building was in good shape or needed minor
repairs.  Most felt a new facility was not necessary.

 A resident posed the question as to whether or not there should be septic field inspections on
lakefront property.  This question was written on the general comment board and received 11
“yes” votes and four “no” votes.

General Feedback 

 Support for short‐term rentals is split between those opposed and those not opposed so long as
there are restrictions or regulations in place.

 The condition and the need for better/more maintenance were mentioned several times.
 Many comments were directed towards enforcing the current ordinances.

Master Plan Goals and Strategies Session 

Participants viewed a presentation that summarized the feedback that was received from the survey 
and open house. They were provided with worksheets that were developed by the consultants that 
outlined suggested goals and strategies to consider as well as some information sheets to describe some 
technical planning terms and zoning language in more detail. They were then split into four groups with 
each group focusing on a specific planning principle. Each group reviewed the suggested goals for their 
planning principal topic area and considered whether they agreed, disagreed, would suggest edits, or 
wanted to remove certain goals or add new ones. They then ranked the goals based on how they felt 
they should be prioritized. 

**Attached to this memo: a working document titled “Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, 

and Implementation.”  This is the document developed by the consultants that is comprised of the 

recommended goals and strategies. 

Session Outline 

The general outline for the session was as follows: 

 7:00 – 7:20pm
The presentation welcomed participants and discussed the following topics:

o What is a Master Plan and why are we doing this?
o Project background, maps, and township demographics
o Planning Enabling Act requirements
o Timeline – what is complete, where are we today, what happens next?
o Explanation of “S.M.A.R.T.” Goals
o Explain Key Performance Indicators (KPI) – aka “measurability”
o Explanation of policies and initiatives
o Review goals developed by the Planning Consultant/ROS

 7:20 – 7:30 pm
o Discuss purpose of this evening’s exercise
o Provide instructions for the groups

 Ground rules and respect ‐ no criticism or judgement, focus on quality not
quantity, and build on each other’s ideas

 Role of the Moderator

18



 Role of the “Group Leader/Note‐Taker”
o Explain where/how groups will convene and split up

 7:30 – 8:10 pm
o Group activity – appoint a group leader/Note‐Taker
o Review the proposed topic area and associated goals (as provided by the ROS)
o Ask questions and discuss

 What are our values (as it pertains to he assigned topic area)?
 Where are we now?
 Wouldn’t it be fantastic if …
 what is liked, disliked, agreed with, disagreed with

o Prioritize the goals
 What do we ultimately want to achieve and why?
 What can we do (resources available) and what will we do (five more years will

not pass by without some measurable action)?
 What is the timeline for each goal?

 8:10 – 8:20 pm – BREAK TIME!

 8:20 – 8:40 pm
o Group presentations – what was discussed and why did you rank each goal where you

did?
o Audience participation – how does the rest of the room feel the group did?  Was

anything missed?  Should we rearrange their rankings?  Could be done through round of
applause.

 8:40 – 8:45pm
o Bringing it all together – recap each group’s goals/priorities
o Discuss next steps in the planning process
o Discuss how people can still participate – through public hearings/meetings, mail, email,

etc.
o Thanks!

Goals and Strategies Session Summarized Results 

The following is the feedback received from the Goals and Strategies participants.  The order of the list is 
the order that the group ranked each potential goal. Goals that were not ranked are listed with bullet‐
points in front of them after the goals that were ranked.  Italicized fonts are notes from the groups.  
Goals that were added or deleted by the groups are denoted. 

 **Attached to this memo: the photos of the boards with notes from each group. 

Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and Property Owners 

1. Have a clear, well‐organized, and effective Zoning Ordinance

No comments to revise – the group liked this goal.

2. ADDED GOAL: Need to have more R‐1 zoning and all zones need review

19



The township should have more R‐1, low density zoning, however, this district should not be 

located along the streams.  Streams should be protected, but may need a new zoning district or 

overlay district that may make more sense. 

3. Effectively address blight in Whitewater Township.

Enforcement is key, which includes the ability to enforce.  Township should consider different

degrees of infractions such as fines for minor offenses and municipal civil infractions for more

severe offenses that are enforceable in court.

4. Reduce future land use conflicts in Whitewater Township

Do away with cumulative zoning; some districts, such as industrial, should not have single‐family

homes in them.  Minimize the conflicts between such uses.  Provide clear definitions of each use

in each zone.

5. Provide effective landscaping and buffering requirements in the Zoning Ordinance

6. Have and maintain effective regulations regarding higher‐density residential development

Goals that were not ranked or addressed by the group: 

 Have and maintain practical regulations concerning alternative energy facilities in Whitewater
Township opportunities to develop a corridor plan for M‐72 with the newly created
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and associated potential funding.

Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character 

1. Have regulatory tools necessary to help maintain rural character

There should be a lot size minimum in low‐density districts.  This may require additional study by

the Planning Commission to determine an appropriate size.  The group discussion generally

favored a 1 acre lot minimum so that the cost would not be prohibitive to new families or people

moving in, but there was some concern about the density of the homes being too great at that

level.  The group felt the depth to width ration of 4:1 in the zoning ordinance was decent.  It was

noted that lot size was crucial and the most important goal in maintaining a rural character.

2. Maintain the rural qualities of M‐72 east of Cook Road

3. Eliminate the R‐1 Zoning District along the creeks and tributaries

4. Re‐evaluate the repeal of Article 27: Regulations for Environmentally Sensitive Areas

5. Create an improved PUD Zoning District that developers are inclined to use

6. Review and update zoning requirements to further support agricultural tourism

7. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design
guidelines

8. Update the existing “Road Plan” for Whitewater Township

20



Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community 

1. Attract and encourage redevelopment in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of M‐72 and west
of Elk Lake Road).

Expand higher density development to the northwest of Williamsburg utilizing PUDs

2. Evaluate permitted uses and development standards in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of
M‐72 and west of Elk Lake Road) to ensure they align with the development concept of a
downtown‐type setting with small‐scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper‐
floor housing.

Village general zoning needs to be changed and could include residential as an incidental or

secondary use that would encourage a mix of residences and commercial uses.  Could also

include townhomes.

3. Encourage investigations into discovering feasible central water and sewer options to support
more intensive development in Williamsburg

Sewer and water would be very expensive.  Explore opportunities to partner with the tribe/casino

or consider other options to offset cost.

4. ADDED GOAL – Address Blight

No additional comment

Goals that were not ranked or addressed by the group: 

 Pursue opportunities to develop a corridor plan for M‐72 with the newly created Metropolitan
Planning Organization (MPO) and associated potential funding.

 Develop a general non‐motorized plan for Whitewater Township
 Create a local community development foundation (CDF) or establish partnerships with existing

CDF’s.
 Maintain and Develop Partnerships with the Elk Rapids School District

Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportunities 

1. Pursue designation as a “Redevelopment Ready Community” through the Michigan Economic
Development Corporation (MEDC)

Grants and guidance from the state would be key to developing Downtown Williamsburg as well

as other infrastructure needed to support higher density development.

2. Update the C‐1 (Commercial) Zoning District

Update to protect property rights, improve facades, and improve trees and landscaping.

3. Update the N‐1 (Industrial) Zoning District

Expand the industrial area or possibly add a second area.

4. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design
guidelines in C‐1 (Commercial)

21



Only should apply to commercial districts, not residential.  Add tree and landscape standards, 

enhance signage requirements and reduce the timeframe for approval. 

5. Address the issue of Short‐Term‐Rentals (STR) in Whitewater Township

2/3 of residents say yes to allowing short‐term rentals with some kind of regulation; possibly use

a licensing system and limit the number each household could obtain.

6. Define and capitalize on the potential to use existing rail networks

Could better utilize the abandoned rail track south of downtown Williamsburg.

7. Invest in township facilities as development catalysts

School property could be used as a multi‐purpose building, such as a shared community center

space.

**Attachments: 

 Open House – Photos of each of the panels from the five stations used to collect public input

 Goals and Strategies Session – “Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and

Implementation” document used in the workshop

 Goals and Strategies Session – Planning Workshop Resource Sheets used during the workshop

 Goals and Strategies Session – Photos of the boards from each group

22



Attachment 1: 

Open House – Photos of each of the panels from the five stations used to collect public input 

23



Open House Sta�on: 2015 Master Plan 

24



25



Open House Sta�on: Zoning/Land-Use

26



27



 

 

28



 

 

29



 

 

30



Open House Sta�on: Development 

 

31



 

 

32



 

 

33



 

 

34



 

 

35



Open House Sta�on: Infrastructure 

 

36



 

 

37



38



 

 

39



Open House Sta�on: General Feedback 

 

40



 

 

41



Attachment 2: 

Goals and Strategies Session – “Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and Implementation” 
document used in the workshop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42



Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and 
Implementation 

 

Ul�mately, a community master plan must chart a course for the future.  While a community’s 
vision for itself in the future can be expressed in mul�ple ways, the essen�al elements of 
community planning come down to defining where a community “wants to go” and 
implementa�on steps describing “how it intends to get there.”    

The steps to define “where Whitewater Township intends to go” began by revisi�ng the goals 
described in the 2015 Master Plan.  This review revealed the fact that the four master plan goals 
(and bullets thereunder) are not goals in a strict sense but rather are general statements about 
what Whitewater Township values and hopes to encourage.  These overarching principles are 
per�nent to many local planning issues but do not ar�culate a clear policy or provide ac�onable 
steps forward.  They can, however, be used as a framework for more specific, ac�onable goals 
and implementa�on steps.       

In considering and developing more specific community goals, two major considera�ons were 
to view them through the lens of current community a�tudes (survey and workshops) and use 
a framework called “SMART goals” as much as possible.  SMART goals help to define clear, 
realis�c, and measurable targets.  SMART is an acronym that stands for: 

Specific: The goal should be well-defined and clear.  
Measurable: The goal should have criteria for measuring progress and success.  
Achievable: The goal should be atainable and not impossible.  
Realis�c: The goal should be within reach and relevant.   
Time-bound: The goal should have a clear start and end date. 
 
Given the development of SMART goals, implementa�on steps in a community master plan 
o�en fall into two general categories.   First, policies are developed to help the community 
respond to future requests for ac�on or provide guidance for future ac�ons as opportuni�es 
present themselves.  This might include informa�on on how to respond to future rezoning 
requests.  Second, ini�a�ves are developed to define ac�on items that must be completed to 
achieve something.  This might include developing new zoning standards, procedures, or special 
planning studies to address a key issue.    Defined ini�a�ves should be associated with a sense 
of priority and �meframe.   

 

43



Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and 
Property Owners. 
 
Context: The rights of residents and property owners can be infringed upon in several ways.  These include: 
 

1. No one is served by poorly drafted or ambiguous zoning requirements that create confusion, permitting delays, 
and legal challenges.   

2. A lack of consistent zoning enforcement can leave property owners unprotected from nuisances and diminish 
property values.   

3. Blighted areas in Whitewater Township reduce property values and discourage investment.  
4. Existing permitted and special uses in various zoning districts may create land use con�licts (i.e., residential 

uses are currently allowed in the industrial zone). 
5. Effective and reasonable landscaping requirements in the zoning ordinance can mitigate visual and noise 

impacts between dissimilar land uses.     
 
Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy  

1. Have a clear, well-organized, and effec�ve Zoning Ordinance.   This includes current and future 
steps to improve the clarity of the exis�ng zoning ordinance so that requirements and standards 
are unambiguous.   This also includes preparing, upda�ng, and adop�ng a Zoning Map linked to 
the Zoning Ordinance that plainly defines the boundaries of all zoning districts. 

X  

2. Effec�vely address blight in Whitewater Township.    Specific steps include upda�ng the 
Township Junk Ordinance (38) (and any other related ordinance) as necessary and providing for an 
effec�ve enforcement mechanism as required to ensure compliance.  

X  

3. Reduce future land use conflicts in Whitewater Township.   Presently, the Whitewater Township 
Zoning Ordinance is cumula�ve (for example, all uses are permited in the Industrial Zoning 
District).  Specific steps include a review of all permited and special uses in all zoning districts to 
ensure that they are generally harmonious and compa�ble.  This is also an ongoing process as 
new land uses and development trends emerge.    

X X 

4. Provide effec�ve landscaping and buffering requirements in the Zoning Ordinance.     Specific 
steps include reviewing and upda�ng exis�ng landscaping requirements, par�cularly regarding 
buffering, ligh�ng, and noise for land uses that may have off-site impacts. 

X  

5. Have and maintain effec�ve regula�ons regarding higher-density residen�al development.   
Specific steps include a review of permited density, required open space, parking area loca�ons, 
ligh�ng, etc.  This is also an ongoing process as development trends emerge.    

X X 

6. Have and maintain prac�cal regula�ons concerning alterna�ve energy facili�es in Whitewater 
Township.  Specific steps include crea�ng basic regula�ons to allow for the development of local 
alterna�ve energy produc�on (solar panels, wind).  Such regula�ons provide safeguards to 
mi�gate off-site impacts.  This is also an ongoing process as technology evolves.      

X X 

44



Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character 

Context: Residents value the rural character of Whitewater Township and want to preserve it.   Additionally: 

1. To residents, the area's rural character is the presence of orchards, farm stands, other agricultural land, woodlots
and forests, and extended views of undeveloped land across the landscape.

2. Preserving rural character also includes protecting the environmental integrity of the Township �loodplains,
wetlands, watersheds, and water bodies.

3. Land east of Cook Road on M-72 is largely zoned A-1.
4. There is strong support for agricultural tourism as a broad category of activities that can include roadside stands, u-

pick operations, and other activities incidental to the operation of a farm that brings members of the public to the
farm for educational, recreational, or retail purposes.

Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy 
1. Have regulatory tools necessary to help maintain rural character.    Specific steps include a

focused effort to iden�fy and evaluate poten�al new tools to minimize impacts on rural character.
Primary op�ons include 1) a focus on permited density (units per acre to keep housing units more
spread out) and/or 2) more stringent requirements on landscape design (home placements,
retaining natural vegeta�on, na�ve plan�ngs, visual blocks, etc.).

X 

2. Maintain the rural quali�es of M-72 east of Cook Road.   Land next to M-72 and east of Cook
Road is now zoned Agricultural (A-1).   The policy of Whitewater Township should be to discourage
rezoning of Agriculturally-zoned land on M-72 east of Cook Road to Commercial (C-1) or other
more intensive development zoning districts.

X 

3. Create an improved PUD Zoning District that developers are inclined to use.   Specific steps
include upda�ng the exis�ng PUD Zoning District to include regulatory incen�ves.  A PUD should
be an atrac�ve op�on, allowing for residen�al density to be clustered with the preserva�on of
unique environmental and landscape features that contribute to rural character.

X 

4. Review and update zoning requirements to further support agricultural tourism.  Specific steps
include reviewing exis�ng zoning requirements for roadside stands, farm markets, u-pick
opera�ons, and other related ac�vi�es incidental to farm opera�ons.   A zoning amendment
would be necessary to align requirements with desirable development ac�vity.

X 

5. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design
guidelines.  Local preferences point toward favoring architectural styles that reflect rural quali�es.
Voluntary or mandatory architectural design guidelines could be based on survey and open house
findings and addi�onal study to ar�culate desirable features to be included in new construc�on.
This would apply to new commercial, industrial, and mul�-family development; this would not
apply to single-family residences.

X 

6. Eliminate the R-1 Zoning District along the creeks and tributaries.    Presently, land along streams
and tributaries in Whitewater Township is zoned R-1 (a higher density and more intensive zoning
district than A-1).  This encourages more development in areas generally regarded as
environmentally sensi�ve (wetlands/floodplains).   Specific steps include rezoning such property
to A-1 (like adjacent property).

X 

7. Update the exis�ng “Road Plan” for Whitewater Township.    Specific steps include reviewing the
current Road Plan in the context of seeking the designa�on of local roads as Natural Beauty Roads
per the Natural Beauty Road Act (Act 451 of the Public Acts of 1994).   Such designa�on provides
some protec�ons concerning mowing, use of herbicides, tree removal, etc.

X 

8. Re-evaluate the repeal of Ar�cle 27.   Ar�cle 27 contained regula�ons for Environmentally
sensi�ve areas (wetlands, steep slopes, shorelines, etc.).  This Ar�cle was eliminated in 2019.
While this ar�cle may have shortcomings, some useful requirements should be considered for
reinstated in a new zoning amendment.  A review of Ar�cle 27 is warranted, and a replacement
should be considered as necessary to address important issues.

X 

45



Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community 

Context: Like many small rural communities, Whitewater Township lacks a de�ined downtown and sense of place 
common in cities and villages.  However, Williamsburg was once a commercial center, but many buildings are now gone.  
Additionally:    

1. Three out of four survey respondents want to encourage redevelopment of Williamsburg, north of M-72, into a
downtown-type setting with small-scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper-�loor housing.

2. Most, if not all, of the land uses in Williamsburg (south of M-72) are now residential (except for the Township Hall
and the Methodist Church).

3. Places for social and cultural activities and interaction (farmers market, car shows, concerts, senior programs, etc.)
are limited (except for the township park).

4. The area west of Elk Lake Road and North of M-72 is zoned “V” (Village).
5. Residents point to the need to develop more convenient bike trails and walking paths in Whitewater Township.

More non-motorized transportation options in Whitewater Township would help build a sense of community.
Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy 

1. Evaluate permited uses and development standards in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of
M-72 and west of Elk Lake Road) to ensure they align with the development concept of a
downtown-type se�ng with small-scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper-
floor housing.   Steps toward this goal may include preparing and refining land use sketches
showing building mass, placement, and parking area loca�ons.  This is followed by a zoning
amendment(s) to eliminate regulatory barriers to a desirable development patern.

X 

2. Atract and encourage redevelopment in the “V” Village Zoning District (North of M-72 and west
of Elk Lake Road).   This might include partnerships with the Michigan Economic Development
Corpora�on and other local or regional economic development en��es.

X 

3. Pursue opportuni�es to develop a corridor plan for M-72 with the newly created Metropolitan
Planning Organiza�on (MPO) and associated poten�al funding.   Such a plan would iden�fy ways
to manage access to adjacent property as it develops to lessen conges�on and increase traffic
safety.  This poten�ally includes topics such as future signals, roundabouts, access roads,
combined access drives, turn lanes, decelera�on lanes, etc., and allows for coordinated land use
and transporta�on planning.

X X 

4. Encourage inves�ga�ons into discovering feasible central water and sewer op�ons to support
more intensive development in Williamsburg.  Con�nue to study and support inves�ga�ons into
possible central water and sewer op�ons to reduce concerns over pollu�on and water supply and
to support more intensive development in Williamsburg proper.

X 

5. Develop a general non-motorized plan for Whitewater Township.  Such a plan defines
opportuni�es for bike and walking trails and creates a list of long and near-term projects that
would connect to a regional non-motorized network and community facili�es such as parks and
schools.  It may include paved road shoulders and standalone trails.  Emerging partnerships
include TART, the Grand Traverse County Road Commission, and the newly formed MPO.

X 

6. Create a local community development founda�on (CDF) or establish partnerships with exis�ng
CDF’s.   Encourage and support the crea�on of a local community development founda�on to
assist with community projects related to educa�on, environmental projects, or economic
development efforts.  Such an en�ty could be a local non-profit corpora�on, or partnerships with
en��es such as the Grand Traverse Regional Community Founda�on could be formed or
strengthened.

X 

7. Maintain and Develop Partnerships with the Elk Rapids School District.   A focus on the Mill
Creek School is warranted, given current enrollment and facility issues.  At the same �me, a
growing community raises issues about needs such as libraries, senior centers, and related public
space needs.    Coordinated planning (especially regarding facili�es and public buildings) is
desirable and warranted.

X 

46



Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportunities 
 
Context: Whitewater Township is pro-business and seeks to provide an environment wherein people can succeed 
economically. Additionally:  
 
1. Whitewater Township has an industrial area (generally south of M-72, West of Williamsburg Rd and east of Moore 

Road).  It is home to several light industrial uses that provide jobs and a local tax base.   
2. The M-72 corridor (west of Cook Road) presents opportunities for new commercial development. Residents 

generally desire smaller building footprints (75,000 square feet or less), mixed uses (potentially retail, services, 
of�ice, residential, etc.), controlled signage, limited driveways, limited site lighting, and extensive landscaping.   

   
Poten�al Goals Ini�a�ve Policy  

1. Pursue designa�on as a “Redevelopment Ready Community” through the Michigan Economic 
Development Corpora�on (MEDC).   This cer�fica�on process signals that a community has clear 
development policies and procedures, a community-supported vision, a predictable review 
process, and compelling sites for developers to locate their latest projects. 

 X 

2. Update the C-1 (Commercial) Zoning District.   Specific steps include reviewing permited uses, 
special uses, and development standards (lot sizes, setbacks, and maximum building size 
limita�ons align with desired development scenarios). Poten�al updates in a future zoning 
amendment align with the community survey results and feedback from the open house.   

X  

3. Update the N-1 (Industrial) Zoning District.   Specific steps include reviewing permited uses, 
special uses, and development standards (lot sizes, setbacks, and maximum building size 
limita�ons) to align with desired development scenarios.  Par�cular aten�on should be focused 
on uses currently allowed that are not industrial.     

X  

4. Develop consensus about the desirability of voluntary or mandatory architectural design 
guidelines in C-1 (Commercial).  Determine if architectural design guidelines (voluntary or 
mandatory) are appropriate to further rural character in new non-residen�al buildings in the C-1 
Zone. Local preferences point toward favoring architectural styles that reflect rural quali�es.  
Voluntary or mandatory architectural design guidelines could be based on survey and open house 
findings and addi�onal study to ar�culate desirable features to be included in new construc�on.     

X  

5. Address the issue of Short-Term-Rentals (STR) in Whitewater Township.  Zoning regula�ons 
should be clarified, and new / updated regula�ons should reflect recent survey results and other 
feedback obtained through the Master Plan process.  Any steps forward in terms of new or revised 
regula�ons should take into account any legisla�ve changes at the state level. 

X  

6. Define and capitalize on the poten�al to use exis�ng rail networks.  The exis�ng rail line west of 
the post office may present development/redevelopment opportuni�es for Whitewater Township.  
This might include new recrea�on atrac�ons such as u�lizing abandoned railways for rail bikes or 
other forms of transporta�on.   Whitewater Township should encourage and support efforts to 
use this exis�ng rail bed and right-of-way for purposes that help s�mulate redevelopment of this 
area.  

 X 

7. Invest in township facili�es as development catalysts.  Township and public facili�es (such as 
EMS, fire protec�on, township hall, etc.) are necessary to support quality public services.   From a 
planning perspec�ve, there are opportuni�es to co-locate facili�es in ways that help support 
development and redevelopment.   The Township Board, Planning Commission, and School Board 
should maintain close communica�on and collabora�on to ensure related decisions create 
synergy, efficiency, and development catalysts where possible.       

 X 

 

     

47



Attachment 3: 

Goals and Strategies Session – Planning Workshop Resource Sheets used during the workshop 

48



 

 
WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP  

PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES  

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

 

 

 

GENERAL ZONING INFORMATION 
Like most Michigan Townships, Whitewater has a Zoning Ordinance.  It was first adopted in 1972 
and it divides the township into 11 Zoning Districts (see map).  Each zoning district allows certain 
land uses.  Some uses are “permitted” and some are “special uses.”   Special uses require 
Planning Commission review and approval.  Each zoning district has development standards 
(minimum lot sizes, building setbacks, etc.).  These are summarized below:  

R-1 RESIDENTIAL  

Permitted Uses Such As: Single family dwellings, 
parks, churches (less than 5,000 square feet), etc.  

Special Uses Such As: Bed and Breakfasts, 
churches (more than 5,000 square feet), Planned 
Unit Developments  

Minimum Lot Size:  20,000 square feet 
 

R-2 RESIDENTIAL  

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted in R-1, 
two family dwellings, schools, libraries.  

Special Uses Such As: All special uses in R-1, 
Nursing homes,  

Minimum Lot Size:  12,000 square feet (1 fam.), 
22,000 (2 fam.) 

    

 
 

R-3 RESIDENTIAL  

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted in R-2, 
two family dwellings, schools, libraries.  

Special Uses Such As: All special uses in R-2, multi-
family dwellings, townhouses and apartments  

Minimum Lot Size:  12,000 square feet (1 fam.), 
11,000 square feet per dwelling unit.  
 

C-1 Commercial   

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses allowed in R-1 
and R-2, restaurants, offices, retail stores, 
equipment rental, personal services, daycare, 
churches. 

Special Uses Such As:  Any use in a building more 
than 10,000 square feet, drive thru, indoor 
recreation, multi-family, vet clinics, storage 
buildings, etc.  

Minimum Lot Size:  N/A  
 

V Village   

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses allowed in R-1, R-
2, R-3 and C in buildings with a footprint of less than 
5,000 square feet, apartments and offices located 
above commercial uses in mixed-use buildings 

Special Uses Such As:  Permitted Uses allowed in 
the R1, R2, R3, and C districts in buildings with a 
building footprint of 5,000 square feet or more, and 
any use in a building which exceeds 5,000 square 
feet, and drive-through services, or live 
entertainment., 

Minimum Lot Size:  NA 
 

49



WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES 

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

N Industrial 

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted and as 
regulated within the Commercial, Village, and 
Residential Districts, wholesale warehouses, storage 
warehouses, billboards.  

Special Uses Such As:   Junk, scrap metal, or 
salvage yards, stock yards, slaughterhouses, 
rendering plants, meat or pelt processing 
establishments, heavy industry such as smelters, 
foundries, heavy industrial stamping operations, all 
special uses permitted within the Commercial, 
Village, and Residential Districts.  

Minimum Lot Size:  N/A 

A-1 Agricultural

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted and as 
regulated in Residential District R- 2, Farming of all 
types, including the construction and maintenance 
of migrant worker's quarters, Riding academies and 
stables, veterinarian hospitals and kennels, farm 
markets, private family campgrounds.  

Special Uses Such As:   Commercial Campgrounds 

Minimum Lot Size:  40,000 square feet 

RC-1 Recreational 

Permitted Uses Such As: All uses permitted and as 
regulated within R-2, Bed and breakfast 
establishments providing tourist/vacation 
accommodations, private family campgrounds, 
riding academies and stables, veterinarian hospitals 
and kennels, hydro-electric plants, State-owned 
conservation lands. 

Special Uses Such As:  Planned Unit Developments, 
commercial campgrounds 

Minimum Lot Size:  5 Acres 

50



WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP 

PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES 

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

Images: Dealing with Change in the Connecticut River Vally:  A Design Manual 

for Conservation and Development.  Lincoln Institute of Land Policy 

Planned Unit Developments (PUD) 
A PUD is a broad category of zoning that allows for more creativity in land planning, site design, 

and the protection of environmentally sensitive lands not possible with conventional zoning and 

development practices.  A PUD can allow for more compact development with common open 

space making, it easier to preserve environmental and scenic attributes of a site.  PUDs often allow 

for smaller lots on some parts of the site in exchange for permanently preserved common open 

space elsewhere on the site.   They can also allow for mixed uses (different housing types and non-

residential uses).   

Conventional Development 

Cluster Option with Preserved Open Space 

Conventional Development 

Cluster Option with Preserved Open Space 

51



WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING WORKSHOP RESOURCES 

Whitewater Township Master Plan Update  

Evaluates a community’s zoning ordinance and how 
it meets community goals, enables the form and 
type of development the community is seeking and 
includes modern approaches to zoning. Zoning is a 
key tool for plan implementation and obsolete 
zoning regulations can discourage development and 
investment.  

Evaluates the community’s development review 
policies and procedures to ensure they integrate 
predictability throughout. Unnecessary steps or 
unclear instructions increase time and expenses 
associated with development. Community leaders 
should look to simplify and clarify policies and 
increase efficiency to create an inviting development 
climate that is vital to attracting investment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REDEVELOPMENT READY 
COMMUNITIES (RRC) 
Several years ago, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) created a program 
called Redevelopment Ready Communities (RRC).  RRC is a voluntary technical assistance 
program offered by the (MEDC) to empower communities by building a strong foundation of 
planning, zoning, and economic development best practices.  RRC Technical Assistance (RRC TA) 
match funding is available. 

Some area communities now involved in the RRC program include: East Bay Charter Twp., Elk Rapids, Ellsworth, 

Garfield Charter Twp., Kalkaska, and Mancelona. 

Best Practice – 1 (Plans & Engagement) 
Evaluates community planning and how a 
community’s redevelopment vision is embedded in 
the master plan, capital improvements plan, and 
downtown plan or corridor plan(s). It also assesses 
how a community identifies its stakeholders and 
engages them, not only during planning processes, 
but on a continual basis. 

Best Practice 2 (Zoning) 

Best Practice 3 (Development Review) 

Assesses the tools a community has put in place to 
strengthen their boards and commissions. Diversity 
on boards and commissions can ensure a wide range 
of perspectives are considered when making 
decisions on development and financial incentives. 
Being intentional when a community conducts 
recruitment and orientation for newly appointed or 
elected officials and board members creates a solid 
foundation for the community to build upon. 

Best Practice 4 (Boards & Commissions) 

Best Practice 5 (Economic Development & 
Marketing) 

Assess the community’s plans to strengthen its 
overall economic health and market itself to create 
community pride and increase investor confidence. 
Today, economic development means more than 
business attraction and retention. While business 
development is a core value, a community needs to 
include community development and talent in the 
overall equation for economic success. 

Best Practice 6 (Redevelopment Ready Sites) 

Assesses how a community identifies, envisions, and 
markets their priority redevelopment sites. Instead of 
waiting for developers to propose projects, 
Redevelopment Ready Communities identify priority 
sites and prepare information to assist developers in 
finding opportunities that match the community’s vision. 

52



Attachment 4: 

Goals and Strategies Session – Photos of the boards from each group 

53



Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and Property Owners 

 

54



Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character 

55



Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community 

56



Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportuni�es 

57



Master Plan Resident Outreach Subcommitee (ROS) Update: 

The ROS was instrumental in assisting the PC with the planning, preparing, and 
executing the Citizen Engagement portions (Survey, Open House, and Workshop) 
of the Master Plan.  Thanks to their focused efforts, we now have a deeper 
understanding of public attitudes toward important planning issues facing 
Whitewater Township.   As we move into the final plan development phase of the 
process, the PC asked the ROS team to pause their formal activity and allow the 
PC to work through proposed goals, policies, and initiatives that will be central to 
the updated Master Plan.  The PC has, however, encouraged the ROS team to 
attend and participate in the Master Plan discussions at our Regular PC 
meetings.  We value their feedback, insight, and review to ensure we continue to 
reflect the valuable citizen feedback as the remaining Draft Chapters come to 
fruition. 

An important part of the updated Master Plan will be the identification of larger 
Zoning Ordinance updates necessary to achieve the goals identified in our Master 
Plan.  This is beyond the current effort to clarify the zoning ordinance and provide 
a more suitable foundation for more significant changes and updates.   When this 
happens, it will be invaluable to utilize this knowledgeable, dedicated, and hard-
working team to make sure we are following the direction indicated by our citizen 
participation efforts. 

58



The following screen shots are taken from the TB Board Regular 
10/10/2023 Mee�ng Packet (pages 215-218) to illustrate and help 
prepare the TB for their role in the Master Plan’s comple�on. 
htps://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/2023.10.10_agenda_packet.pdf 

59

https://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/2023.10.10_agenda_packet.pdf


60



61



62



The following 3 pages were taken from the 05/17/2023 TB/PC Joint meeting
Packet. Included here as a reminder and validation of the PC's Zoning 
Project Visions and Goals. 
https://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/pc_tb_joint_special_meeting_packet_05.17.2023.pdf

63



64



65



1 | P a g e

Proposed New Organization to the Whitewater Township Zoning Ordinance. 

OLD New 
ARTICLE 1 SHORT TITLE ARTICLE I TITLE, PURPOSE, AND SCOPE (COMBINE ART. I,

II, XX, XXII, XXIII (SHORT TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE, INTERPRETATION, 
SEPARABILITY, REPEAL, EFFECTIVE DATE) 

ARTICLE II INTERPRETATION ARTICLE II DEFINITIONS 
(ARTICLE III DEFINITIONS) 

ARTICLE III DEFINITIONS ARTICLE III ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS (NEW

SECTION THAT REPLACES ART. V AND ESTABLISHES THE ZONING MAP AS PART 
OF THE ZO, IDENTIFIES ZONING DISTRICTS, ETC.) 

ARTICLE IV ACCESSORY AND NONCONFORMING USES AND 
BUILDINGS 

ARTICLE IV ZONING DISTRICTS, USE REGULATIONS 
AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS
(ARTICLE VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, XII) DESCRIBES ALL ZONING DISTRICTS, 
PERMITTED SPECIAL USES AND PRIMARY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

ARTICLE V DISTRICTS ARTICLE V SUPPLEMENTAL DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS AND PROVISIONS (IV. XIII, XIV, XV, XVI, XXIX,

XXXIII, XXIX XXXVII) 

ARTICLE VI RESIDENTIAL R-1 ARTICLE VI OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING, 
LIGHTING AND LANDSCAPE STANDARDS (XXXIX, XXXIII,

XXIV)

66

TB: The PC made a "consensus to accept" the following updates (subject to change as more Zoning 
work is completed) through packet page 111 at the Regular PC Meeting on 11/01/2023. Please 
review and be prepared to offer feedback, ask questions, etc. 



2 | P a g e

OLD New 
ARTICLE VII MULTIPLE RESIDENTIAL R-2 and R-3 ARTICLE VII OPTIONAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENTS

(ARTICLE XXXI and XXXII) PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AND CORRIDOR 
OVERLAY PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

ARTICLE VIII COMMERCIAL C and VILLAGE V ARTICLE VIII CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS  (XXVIII)

ARTICLE IX INDUSTRIAL ARTICLE IX SITE PLAN REVIEW (XXV)

ARTICLE X AGRICULTURAL A-1 ARTICLE X SPECIAL LAND USES (XXV) 

ARTICLE XI RECREATIONAL RC-1 ARTICLE XI SIGN REGULATIONS (XXX)

ARTICLE XII BUILDING LOT SIZES AND YARD REQUIREMENTS ARTICLE XII TELECOMMUNICATION TOWERS (XXXV) 

ARTICLE XIII ESSENTIAL PUBLIC SERVICES ARTICLE XIII MOBILE HOME STANDARDS (XXXVI)

ARTICLE XIV WATERFRONT PROPERTY ARTICLE XIV SANITARY LANDFILL AND WASTE 
DISPOSALS (XXIV) 

ARTICLE XV SANITATION REQUIREMENTS ARTICLE XV ADMINISTRATION (XVII, XVIII, XIX, XXI)

ADMINISTRATION, ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS, AMENDMENTS, VIOLATIONS 

ARTICLE XVI OUTDOOR STORAGE 

ARTICLE XVII ADMINISTRATION 

ARTICLE XVIII ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

67



3 | P a g e

OLD New 
ARTICLE XIX REQUEST FOR AMENDMENT 

ARTICLE XX SEPARABILITY 

ARTICLE XXI VIOLATIONS 

ARTICLE XXII EFFECTIVE DATE 

ARTICLE XXIII REPEAL 

ARTICLE XXIV SANITARY LANDFILL AND WASTE DISPOSAL 

ARTICLE XXV SITE PLAN REVIEW AND SPECIAL LAND USES 

ARTICLE XXVI RESERVED 

ARTICLE XXVII RESERVED 

ARTICLE XXVIII CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

ARTICLE XXIX EXTERIOR LIGHTING REGULATIONS 

ARTICLE XXX SIGN REGULATIONS 

ARTICLE XXXI PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

ARTICLE XXXII CORRIDOR OVERLAY PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

ARTICLE XXXIII LANDSCAPE STANDARDS 

ARTICLE XXXIV OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

ARTICLE XXXV TELECOMMUNICATION TOWERS 

68



4 | P a g e

OLD New 
ARTICLE XXXVI MOBILE HOME STANDARDS 

ARTICLE XXXVII SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISIONS 

69



WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE  

WORKING DRAFT 

**WITH MARKUPS

70



ARTICLE 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 
Page 2 

Table of Contents 

ARTICLE 1 - TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE .................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.01 Short Title .......................................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................................. 1-1 
1.03 Scope  ............................................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.04 Splitting Lots Within A Recorded Subdivision ............................................................................................... 1-1 
1.05 Rules of Interpretation ...................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.06 Severability Clause .......................................................................................................................................... 1-2 
1.07 Repeal ............................................................................................................................................................... 1-2 
1.08 Effective Date .................................................................................................................................................... 1-2 

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS............................................................................................................................................ 2-1 
2.01 Definitions .......................................................................................................................................................... 2-1 

ARTICLE 3 - ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS ............................................................................................................ 3-1 
3.01 Zoning Districts Established ............................................................................................................................ 3-1 
3.02 Zoning Map ....................................................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.03 Interpretation Of Zoning District Boundaries ................................................................................................. 3-1 

ARTICLE 4 - USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS   .................................. 4-1 
4.01 Zoning District Regulations ............................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.02 Principal Use Regulations ............................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.03 Accessory Use Regulations ............................................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.04 Residential R-1 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.05 Residential R-2 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.06 Residential R-3 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.07 Commercial C – Intent ..................................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.08 Village District V – Intent .................................................................................................................................. 4-3 
4.09 Industrial District N - Intent ............................................................................................................................... 4-4 
4.10 Agricultural A-1 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-4 
4.11 Recreational RC-1– Intent ............................................................................................................................... 4-5 
4.12 Primary Dimensional Requirements .............................................................................................................. 4-5 

71



ARTICLE 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 
Page 1-1 

ARTICLE 1 - TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 

1.01 SHORT TITLE 
This Ordinance shall be known and cited as the Whitewater Township Zoning Ordinance, and will be 
referred to herein as "this Ordinance." 

1.02 PURPOSE 
The fundamental purpose of this Ordinance is to promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the 
inhabitants of the Township by: 

(A) Promoting the orderly development of the Township.
(B) Encouraging the use of lands and resources of the Township in accordance with their character and

adaptability.
(C) Securing safety from fire and other dangers and providing for safety in traffic, adequacy of parking

and reduction in hazards to life and property.
(D) Facilitating the development of adequate systems of fire protection, education, recreation, water

supplies and sanitary facilities. 
(E) Conserving the use of public funds for public improvement and services to conform with the most

advantageous use of lands, properties and resources of the Township.
(F) Protecting fish and wildlife resources, water quality, scenic and aesthetic qualities, historical and

recreational values.
(G) Preventing flood damages due to interference with natural drainage characteristics of rivers and

streams.
(H) Promoting the economic progress of the Township and protecting and enhancing the property

values thereof.

1.03 SCOPE 
It is not intended by this Ordinance to repeal, abrogate, annul, or in any way impair or interfere with 
existing provisions of law or ordinance, except as hereinafter specifically repealed, or with any rules, 
regulations or permits previously adopted or issued or which shall be adopted or issued pursuant to law, 
relating to the use of buildings or premises, or with any private restrictions placed upon property by 
covenant or deed; provided, however, that where this Ordinance imposes a greater restriction upon the 
use of buildings or premises than are imposed or required by such existing provisions of law or ordinance 
or by such rules, regulations or permits or by such private restrictions, the provisions of this Ordinance 
shall control. 

1.04 SPLITTING LOTS WITHIN A RECORDED SUBDIVISION 
No lot, outlot or other parcel of land in a recorded plat shall be further partitioned or divided unless in 
conformity with the standard of the district in which it exists.  

1.05 RULES OF INTERPRETATION 
The following rules are intended to clarify the intent of the standards within this Ordinance. The following 
shall apply, except when clearly indicated otherwise: 

(A) Terms not defined shall be assumed to have the customary meaning assigned them.
(B) Any interpretation of this Ordinance shall be defined by the Whitewater Township Zoning Board of

Appeals.
(C) The particular shall control the general.
(D) The word "shall" is always mandatory and never discretionary. The word "may" is permissive.

Commented [RM1]: Same as Article 1, Section 1.00

Deleted: .

Commented [RM2]: Same as Article II Section 2.10

Commented [RM3]: Same as Article II Section 2.11

Commented [RM4]: Same as Article II, Section 2.12.  Except changed the title to read Splitting 
Lots Within a Recorded Subdivision, rather than “Splitting Lots With Recorded Subdivisions” 
Also, I deleted the last sentence as the Land Division Ord. should control 

Deleted: The township may permit the partitioning of land into not more than four (4) parts.

Commented [RM5]: Same as Article II, Section 2.13

72



ARTICLE 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 
Page 1-2 

(E) The phrase "used for" includes "arranged for," "designed for," "intended for," "maintained for," and
"occupied for."

(F) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, where a regulation involves two (2) or more items,
conditions, provisions or events, the terms "and," "or," "either ... or," such conjunction shall be
interpreted as follows:

(G) "And" denotes that all the items, conditions, provisions or events apply in combination.
(H) "Or" indicates that the items, conditions, provisions or events may apply individually or in any

combination.
(I) "Township" shall refer specifically to "Whitewater Township."
(J) The term "person" shall mean an individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, limited

liability company or other legal entity, or their agents.

1.06 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
If any clause, sentence, subsentence, paragraph, section or part of this Ordinance be adjudged by any 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect. Impair or invalidate the 
remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, subsentence, paragraph, 
section or part thereof directly involved in the controversy in which said judgment shall have been 
rendered. 

1.07 REPEAL 
All zoning ordinances and amendments, or parts of zoning ordinances inconsistent with the provisions of 
this Ordinance are hereby repealed as of the effective date of this Ordinance. The repeal of existing 
ordinances or parts of ordinances and their amendments does not affect or impair any act done, offense 
committed or right accrued or acquired, or liability, penalty, forfeiture or punishment incurred prior to the 
time it was enforced, prosecuted or inflicted. 

1.08 EFFECTIVE DATE 
This Ordinance and any amendments shall take effect pursuant to Article XX, and Public Act 110 of 2006 
as amended and upon passage by Township Board.  

Commented [RM6]: This existing clause is in Article XX, Section 20.10.   It is more common to 
place such general provisions at the beginning of the Zoning Ordinance rather than in the 
middle.   

Commented [RM7]: Article XXIII contains one section regarding the repeal of the prior Interim 
Zoning Ordinance.   A broader repeal clause is needed here in Article 1.  Section 23.10 is 
removed  

Commented [RM8]: Article XXII, Section 22.10 contains the statement that...  “This Ordinance 
shall take immediate effect upon passage by the Township Board.”  This section is inconsistent 
with MZEA, and it needs to be corrected. Section 22.10 is to be removed   The green text will be 
a hyperlink later.  

73



ARTICLE 2 – DEFINITIONS 
Page 2-1 

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS 

2.01 DEFINITIONS  
For the purposes of this ordinance, the following definitions apply.  

ACCESSORY BUILDING: A supplemental building or structure located on the same lot as the primary 
building or where a primary use is being established. 

ACCESSORY USE: A use naturally incident to and subordinate to the main use of the land or building. 

ADULT FOSTER CARE FACILITIES: A governmental or nongovernmental establishment having as its 
principal function the receiving of adults for foster care. Subject to Michigan Public Act 218 of 1979 as 
amended, adult foster care facilities include facilities and foster care family homes for adults who are 
aged, mentally ill, developmentally disabled, or physically disabled who require supervision on an ongoing 
basis but who do not require continuous nursing care. An adult foster care facility does not include a 
nursing home, home for the aged, hospital, hospital for the mentally ill, facility for the developmentally 
disabled, county infirmary, childcaring institution, an establishment commonly described as an alcohol or 
substance abuse rehabilitation center, a residential facility for persons released from or assigned to an 
adult correctional institution, and any other use excluded under Act 218 of 1979 as amended. 

AGRICULTURAL COOLING PAD: The area and its related equipment where crops, cherries in 
particular, are collected, temporarily stored, and rinsed with water to lower the temperature and prepare 
the crop for transport and processing. 

AGRICULTURAL PREMISES: A premises used or occupied for the cultivation of field crops, truck crops, 
nurseries, orchards, greenhouses, woodlots, pastures, husbandry of livestock, poultry or small animals, or 
any activities of a similar nature. 

AGRICULTURAL STAGING AREA: An area where trucks, transport equipment, harvesting coordination, 
and assembly and loading of agricultural products takes place related to the logistics of harvesting and 
transporting agricultural crops. 

BED AND BREAKFAST:   A single family residential structure that meets all of the following criteria: 
 Has 10 or fewer sleeping rooms, including sleeping rooms occupied by the innkeeper, 1 or more

of which are available for rent to transient tenants.
 Serves meals at no extra cost to its transient tenants.
 Has a smoke detector in proper working order in each sleeping room and a fire extinguisher in

proper working order on each floor. 

BILLBOARD: A sign structure generally available for lease or rent, although sometimes owned by the 
user, intended to support an off-premises business. Commercial Outdoor Advertising and Outdoor 
Advertising are other terms commonly applied to larger billboards. 

BUILDING: A structure having a roof supported by columns or walls for the shelter, support, or enclosure 
of persons, animals, or property. 

BUILDING COVERAGE: The horizontal area measured within the outside of the exterior walls of the 
ground floor of all principal and accessory buildings on a permanent foundation on a lot. 

BUILDING FOOTPRINT:  The area of land occupied by the foundation of a building and does not include 
appurtenances like decks unless they are on a permanent foundation. 

Commented [RM9]: New Definition. Adult Foster Care Facilities are allowed in Res Districts – but 
a definition is missing.  The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (125.3206) requires that AFC homes 
(a state-licensed residential facility) be treated as a residential use of property for the purposes 
of zoning and a permitted use in all residential zones.

Deleted: BED AND BREAKFAST ESTABLISHMENT: A private residential dwelling in which the 
owner provides overnight accommodations and breakfast to transient guest for compensation.¶

Commented [RM10]: Better to use MCL Definition 125.1504b for a B&B. It is much more specific 
and clearer 

Commented [RM11]: Note – all Signage definitions and regulations must be reviewed according 
to Reed/Gilbert.  This should be done after this Zoning Clarification Project.    

Commented [RM12]: Need a definition for Building Coverage to support Section 12.11.   Building 
Coverage is not the same as building footprint.   Building Coverage applies to all buildings on a 
lot. “Building Footprint” refers to a single building.   

Commented [RM13]: Removed the term “Footprint” (later in the definitions) and replaced it with 
“Building Footprint.” The term “Building Footprint” is used in Table 12.11 currently.  

74



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-2 

BUILDING HEIGHT: The building height is the vertical distance measured from the finished grade level to 
the highest point of the roof surface if a flat roof; to the deck of mansard roofs; and to the mean height 
level between eaves and ridges of gable, hip and gambrel roofs. Where the building may be situated on 
sloping terrain, this height shall be measured from the highest finished grade at the building wall. 

BUFFER STRIP: A strip of land reserved or used for plant material, berms, walls, or fencing to serve as a 
visual and/or sound barrier between properties, often required between properties in different zoning 
districts. 

CABIN: A simple housing structure providing temporary accommodation for recreational purposes. 

CAMPGROUND, COMMERCIAL: A campground owned and operated expressly for the purpose of 
renting space in the campground on a transient basis for profit to the general public. A campground 
owned and operated by a non-profit organization for the exclusive temporary use and enjoyment of its 
members shall also be considered a commercial campground. 

CAMPGROUND, PRIVATE FAMILY: Parcels of land owned and operated exclusively for the temporary 
use and enjoyment of those sharing in the ownership of the parcel, their invited guests and are not for 
remuneration. 

CONDOMINIUM CONVERSION: Any property or group of properties whose form of ownership is 
changed to condominium units from another form of ownership.  A condominium conversion also refers to 
a condominium project containing condominium units some or all of which were occupied before the filing 
of a notice of taking reservations under section 71 of the Condominium Act 59 of 1978. 

CONDOMINIUM UNIT: That portion of a condominium project or site condominium subdivision which is 
designed and intended for separate ownership and use, as described in the master deed, regardless of 
whether it is intended for residential, office, industrial, business, recreational, use as a time-share unit, or 
any other type of use. The owner of a "condominium unit" also owns a share of the common elements. 
The term "condominium unit" shall be equivalent to the term "lot" for purposes of determining compliance 
of a site condominium subdivision with provisions of this Ordinance pertaining to minimum lot size, 
minimum lot width, maximum lot coverage, and maximum floor area ratio. 

CONDOMINIUM PROJECT: A plan or project consisting of not less than two (2) condominium units if 
established and approved in conformance with the Condominium Act (Public Act 59 of 1978).  The term 
“condominium project” is also defined as being synonymous with term “condominium development” 
herein. 

COMMERCIAL PREMISES: A premises used or occupied for transportation, retail sales or service 
businesses, wholesale sales facilities, apartments, hotels, motels, or commercial recreation. 

COMMUNITY IMPACT STATEMENT: An assessment of the developmental, ecological, social, economic 
and physical impacts of a project on the natural environment and the physical improvements on and 
surrounding the development site. Information required for compliance with other ordinances shall not be 
required to be duplicated in the Community Impact Statement. 

CORRIDOR OVERLAY PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (COPUD): A corridor overlay zone which 
employs the methods and techniques of a planned unit development. 

CUL-DE-SAC: A circular vehicular turn-around at the end of a private road or easement. 

DEED RESTRICTION: A restriction on a property that is recorded as part of a deed with the County 
Register of Deeds. A deed restriction is binding on subsequent owners and enforced by the parties to the 
agreement. 

DOMESTIC PETS: Dogs, cats and other animals customarily housed within a dwelling. 

Deleted: ¶
CONDOMINIUM PROJECT: Means a plan or project consisting of not less than two (2) 
condominium units if established and approved in conformance with the Condominium Act (Act 59, 
1978).¶

Commented [RM14]: Definitions for condominium project and conversion were updated in 
Amendment #86. These amendments are part of the ZO now – but are shown as changes as 
they differ from the printed ZO the P C members have.

75



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-3 

DWELLING: Any building or structure or portion thereof legally occupied as the home, residence, or 
sleeping place of one or more persons. 

MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof used or designed as a 
residence for three (3) or more families living independently of each other and independently doing their 
own cooking in said building. This definition includes three-family houses, four-family houses and 
apartments, but does not include trailer camps or mobile home parks. 

SINGLE FAMILY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof containing not more than one 
dwelling unit designed for residential use and attached to a permanent foundation, except where 
hereinafter exempt. 

TEMPORARY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof that is intended to be used on a 
temporary basis, has some of the facilities of a conventional dwelling, and is used in conjunction with the 
construction of a permanent residence. 

TWO FAMILY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof designed for or occupied exclusively 
by two families living independently of each other and attached to a permanent foundation, except where 
hereinafter exempt. 

EASEMENT: A grant of one or more of the property rights by a property owner to and/or for use by the 
public, or another person or entity.  

EQUIPMENT: Tangible property, excluding land, buildings, and vehicles, that is used in the operations of 
a business or completion of a task.  

EXISTING BUILDING: A building existing or for which the foundations are in place or upon which there 
has been substantial work done prior to the effective date of this Ordinance or any amendment thereto.  

EXISTING USE: A use of premises or buildings or structures actually in operation, openly, visibly and 
notoriously prior to the effective date of this Ordinance or any amendment thereto. 

FARM MARKET – A farm market is a year-round or seasonal location where transactions and marketing
activities between farm market operators and customers take place. A farm market may be a physical 
structure such as a building or tent, or simply an area where a transaction between a customer and a 
farmer is made. The farm market does not have to be a physical structure. The farm market must be 
located on property owned or controlled (e.g., leased) by the producer of the products offered for sale at 
the market. Fresh products as well as processed products may be sold at the farm market. At least 
50percent of the products offered must be produced on and by the affiliated farm measured by retail floor 
space during peak production season, or 50 percent of the average gross sales for up to the previous five 
years or as outlined in a business plan. Processed products will be considered as produced on and by the 
farm if at least 50 percent of the product’s primary or namesake ingredient was produced on and by the 
farm, such as apples used in apple pie, maple sap in maple syrup, strawberries in strawberry jam, etc. 

FENCE: A fence is a structure usually constructed from posts that are connected by boards, wire, rails or 
netting enclosing an area of ground to mark a boundary, control access, prevent escape, or provide a 
decorative feature. 

FLOOR AREA:    The sum of the horizontal areas of each floor of a building, measured from the interior 
faces of the exterior walls or from the centerline of walls separating two buildings. The floor area 
measurement is exclusive of areas of basements, unfinished attics, attached garages or space used for 
off-street parking or loading, breezeways, enclosed and unenclosed porches, elevator or stair bulkheads, 
and accessory structures.  

GREENBELT:  An area of grass, trees and other natural vegetation between a structure or parking area 

Commented [RM15]: A new definition was added to relate to Farm Stand in A-1.  This term is defined in the 
Michigan Commission of Agriculture & Rural Development GAAMPS.  The term Roadside stand is also used in 
A-1 (however it is not defined). 

Suggest that we add this definition to be consistent with the GAAMPS for Farm Markets and revisit it later to sort 
out the need to define Farm Markets and Roadside Stands separately.   

Deleted: ¶
FENCE, RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS: ¶
¶
1. Fences shall have the finished side facing outward away from the property in which it is located.¶
2. No fence shall be erected within the 50-foot setback of any lakes, rivers, streams.¶
3. Fences shall not exceed a height of 6 feet.¶
4. Prohibited fences include barbed wire, electric charges, or fences with sharp materials located on 
top.¶
¶
FOOTPRINT:  The area of land occupied by the foundation of a building and does not include 
appurtenances like decks unless they are on a permanent foundation.¶

Commented [RM18]: Added a new definition for Floor Area.   Floor Area and Building Footprint are different 
measurements. Floor area is referenced in Article 12 

76



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-4 

and a public thoroughfare. 

HAMMERHEAD TURNAROUND:  A T-shaped vehicular turnaround at the end of a road or easement. 

HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES AND POLLUTING MATERIALS:  Hazardous substances and 
polluting materials shall mean hazardous chemicals as defined by the Michigan Department of Public 
Health and the Michigan Department of Labor; flammable and combustible liquids as defined by the 
Michigan State Police Fire Marshal Division; critical materials, polluting materials and hazardous waste as 
defined by the Michigan Department of Natural Resources; hazardous substances as defined by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency, and hazardous materials as defined by the U.S. Department of 
Transportation.   

HIGHWAY:  Any public thoroughfare in Whitewater Township, including federal and state roads 
and highways. 

HOME OCCUPATIONS:  An occupation or business activity located within a residential  
dwelling or in an accessory building which is clearly subordinate to the principal residential use. 

IMPLEMENT:  A tool or an instrument used in doing work.   

INSTITUTIONAL PREMISES:  Shall be interpreted to include such premises or portions thereof upon 
which is situated a public utility or other publicly owned, operated, or administered facility, any public, 
private or commercial vocational school, a cultural facility, including a museum, library or auditorium, or a 
religious or charitable facility.   

LAND DIVISION:  Creation of a new lot or parcel. 

LOT:  A parcel of land separated from other parcels of land by description on a recorded plat or by 
metes-and-bounds description which meets the requirements of this Ordinance, a condominium unit in a 
site condominium which meets the requirements of this Ordinance, a common area or element in a 
condominium project, a condominium unit. 

CORNER LOT:  Any lot having at least two (2) contiguous sides abutting upon one or more streets, 
provided that the interior angle at the intersection of such two sides is less than one hundred thirty-five 
(135) degrees.  A lot abutting a curved street(s) shall be a corner lot if the arc has a radius less than one
hundred and fifty (150) feet.  Corner lots, for the purpose of setbacks, shall have two front lot lines and
two side lot lines.

INTERIOR LOT:  A lot which has only one lot line or portion thereof fronting on a street. 

LOT AREA: The area of the horizontal plane within the lot lines of a lot, exclusive of the area of any 
public or private road right-of-way adjoining any portion of the lot. Lot area is also defined as only 
including land unbroken by any road, street, or thoroughfare.  

LOT DEPTH:  The average horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines, measured along the 
average midpoint between side lot lines.   

LOT FRONTAGE:  The length of the front lot line. 

LOT OF RECORD:  A tract of land which is part of a subdivision shown on a plat or map which has been 
recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Grand Traverse County, Michigan; or a tract of land 
described by metes-and-bounds which is the subject of a deed or land contract which is likewise recorded 
in the Office of the Register of Deeds. 

LOT WIDTH:   The horizontal distance between side lot lines measured at the required front setback. 

Deleted: a lake or 

Commented [RM19]: New Definition.   Presently, there is no definition of how lot area is 
computed.  Also added the provision for lot area as not including land that is broken by roads 
here (now appears in 12.11)

Deleted: inclusive of land that is

Deleted: throughfare

Deleted: LOT WIDTH:  The average horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured 
perpendicular to the average depth, especially on irregularly shaped lots.

Commented [RM20]: Need a better definition of lot width

77



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-5 

NONCONFORMING LOT:  A lot of record which does not meet the requirements of this Ordinance. 

THROUGH LOT (also called a double frontage lot):  An interior lot having frontage on two (2) more or less 
parallel streets. 

LOT LINES:  The property lines bounding a lot or parcel. 

FRONT LOT LINE:  The line separating a lot from any street right-of-way, private road 
or other access easement.  In the case of a waterfront lot, the line which fronts on a navigable waterway 
shall be a front lot line.  Corner lots, for the purpose of setbacks, shall have two front lot lines and two 
side lot lines.  

REAR LOT LINE:  The line opposite and most distant from the front lot line.  In the case of a triangular or 
otherwise irregularly shaped lot or parcel, an imaginary line ten (10) feet in length entirely within the lot or 
parcel, parallel to and at a maximum distance from the front line.   

SIDE LOT LINE:  Any lot line other than a front or rear lot line. 

ZERO LOT LINE:  The location of a building on a lot in such a manner that one or more of the building's 
sides rest directly on or adjacent to a lot line. 

MANAGED VEGETATIVE STRIP:  A natural vegetative area extending along both sides of  
rivers, streams or watercourses, containing native trees, shrubs and other vegetation and natural 
materials.  The purpose of the managed vegetative strip is to stabilize the river banks, prevent erosion, 
absorb nutrients in water runoff from adjacent lands, provide shading for the stream to maintain cool 
water temperatures, and screening of adjacent man-made structures. 

MANUFACTURED HOME:  A dwelling unit constructed primarily within a factory in modules or 
components, which are then transported to a site where they are assembled on a permanent foundation 
to form a dwelling, and meet all codes and regulations applicable to conventional home construction.  

MASTER DEED:  The document recorded as part of a site condominium subdivision to which are 
attached as exhibits, and incorporated by reference, the approved bylaws for the site condominium 
subdivision and the site condominium subdivision plan. 

MOBILE HOME:  A structure, with a title issued by the State of Michigan, that is approved by the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), and can be moved in one (1) or more sections, 
which is built on a chassis and designed as a dwelling with or without permanent foundation, when 
connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, and electrical systems.  "Mobile 
home" does not include a recreational vehicle or recreational trailer but shall include HUD housing. 

MOBILE HOME OR MANUFACTURED HOME CONDOMINIUM PROJECT:  A condominium project in 
which mobile homes or manufactured homes are located upon separate sites which constitute individual 
condominium units. 

MOBILE HOME PARK, TRAILER COACH PARK, OR PARK:  Any parcel or tract of land under the 
control of any person, upon which three (3) or more occupied trailer coaches are harbored on a continual 
basis, or which is offered to the public for that purpose, regardless of whether a charge is made therefor, 
together with any building, structure, enclosure, street, equipment or facility used or intended for use 
incident to the harboring or occupancy of trailer coaches; except as provided by Section 91, Public Act 
172 of 1970. 

MOBILE HOME SUBDIVISION:  A subdivision approved under the Land Division Act (Public Act 288 of 
1967), as amended, which by deed restriction has been designated solely for occupancy by mobile 
homes, HUD, or similar housing. 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: MOBILE HOME CONDOMINIUM PROJECT:  A condominium project in which mobile 
homes are located upon separate sites which constitute individual condominium units.¶

Commented [RM21]: Definitions for Mobile Home Condominium Project were updated in 
Amendment #86

78



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-6 

MODULAR HOUSING UNIT:  See Manufactured Home. 

NATURAL FEATURES:  Natural features shall include soils, wetlands, floodplain, water bodies, sand 
dunes, topography, vegetative cover and geologic formations.  

NONCONFORMING USE:  A use which lawfully occupied a structure or site prior to the effective date of 
this Ordinance or any amendment thereto, and which does not conform with the current use regulations 
of the district in which it is located. 

NONCONFORMING STRUCTURE:  A structure lawfully existing prior to the effective date 
of this Ordinance or any amendment thereto, which does not meet the current zoning ordinance 
standards for building size or location on a lot for its use and district.  

NUISANCE:  An offensive, annoying, unpleasant, or obnoxious thing or practice, especially when 
constant or repetitive.  A condition which is perceivable and extends its effect upon neighbors across 
property lines by the generation of excessive noise, odors, trash, abnormal traffic, congregation of people 
(particularly at night), or other similar conditions. 

ORDINARY HIGH-WATER MARK:  The point on the bank or shore up to which the presence and action 
of the water is so continuous as to leave a distinct mark either by erosion, destruction of terrestrial 
vegetation, or other easily recognized characteristic.  

OUTDOOR DISPLAY AREA:  An outdoor arrangement of objects, items, products, or other materials, 
typically not in a fixed position and capable of rearrangement, designed and used for the purpose of 
advertising or identifying a business, product, or service. 

OUTDOOR INVENTORY AREA:  A designated outdoor area designed to allow for storage of excess 
inventory in a manner not visible to the public.  

OUTDOOR SALES AREA:  The display and sale of products and services outside of a building or 
structure, including vehicles, garden supplies, gas, motor oil, food and beverages, boats and 
aircraft, farm equipment, motor homes, burial monuments, building and landscape materials, and similar 
materials or items. 

PARCEL:  A lot described by metes and bounds or described in a recorded plat. 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD):  A piece of property developed as a separate neighborhood or 
community unit.  This form of development is based on an approved site plan and allows flexibility of 
design not available under normal zoning district requirements.  The plan may contain a mixture of 
housing types, open spaces, and other various land uses. 

PLAT:  A map of a subdivision of land. 

PLOT PLAN:  The documents and drawings normally consisting of a drawing of the subject lot or parcel 
of land together with an outline drawing of the proposed structure(s) or modification(s), 
including all porches, extensions and roof overhangs, showing the principal dimensions of the 
structure(s) and all setback distances measured perpendicular to all lot lines.  The documents and 
drawings shall bear the name, address and telephone number of the landowner and applicant, and the 
date of the application. 

PREMISES:  A unit of contiguous real property under common ownership. 

PRIMARY or PRINCIPAL BUILDING:  A building which houses the main or principal use of the lot on 
which it is located.  All other buildings are accessory structures. 

PRIMARY OR PRINCIPAL USE:  The main use to which the lot or premises are devoted.  For example, 

Commented [RM22]: High Water should be hyphenated.  

Deleted: OUTDOOR DISPLAY AREA:  A designated outdoor area used for the display of 
merchandise visible to the public.¶
¶

Commented [RM23]: Improve definition of Outdoor Display Area

Commented [RM24]: Add definition of Outdoor Sales Areas.   Outdoor sales, display, and 
Inventory areas could all be different things  

79



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-7 

the main use of a single-family home is residential, and the main use of a retail store is commercial.  

RECREATIONAL PREMISES:  A premises used or occupied for recreational purposes, including parks, 
play areas, indoor or outdoor swimming pools, bathing beaches, boating and fishing areas, winter 
recreational areas, nature study areas, community halls and fairgrounds.   

RECREATIONAL UNIT:  A vehicular structure, primarily designed as temporary living quarters for 
recreational camping or travel use, which either has its own motive power or is mounted on or drawn by 
another vehicle which is self-powered.  Recreational units shall include travel trailers, camping trailers, 
motor homes, truck campers, slide-in campers and chassis-mounted dwellings. 

SIGN:  Any words, lettering, figures, numerals, phrases, sentences, emblems, devices, designs, 
trademarks, or combination thereof, by which anything is made known, such as the designation of an 
event, a firm, a profession, a business or product, which are visible from any street or road and used as 
an outdoor display. 

SIGN STRUCTURE:  A permanent physical structure on a fixed footing, foundation, column or base 
designed or used for the support and/or illumination of a sign.   

SITE CONDOMINIUM SUBDIVISION:  A division of land on the basis of condominium ownership, which 
is not subject to the provisions of the Subdivision Control Act, Public Act 288 of 1967, as amended, but is 
subject to the requirements of the Condominium Act, Public Act 59 of 1978, as amended.  

SITE CONDOMINIUM SUBDIVISION PLAN:  The drawings attached to the master deed for a site 
condominium subdivision which describes the size, location, area, horizontal and vertical boundaries and 
volume of each condominium unit contained in the site condominium subdivision, as well as the nature, 
location and size of common elements. 

SITE PLAN:  A plan drawn to scale showing proposed uses and structures for a parcel 
of land, including any details necessary to illustrate the final proposed use.  A site plan may include 
elements such as the location of lot lines, the location of buildings, open spaces, parking, landscaping, 
and utility lines.  

SPECIAL USES:  Special uses are those uses which are not essentially incompatible with the uses 
permitted in a zoning district but require individual review and standards to avoid conflict with adjacent 
uses of land.   

SPECIAL USE PERMIT:  A permit issued by the Planning Commission following a public hearing which 
allows a specific activity in and on a property with additional specified requirements or provisions. 

STRUCTURE:  A structure is any production or piece of material artificially built up or composed of parts 
joined together in some definite manner; any construction, including dwellings, garages, building, mobile 
homes, signs and sign boards, tower, poles, antennae, stand pipes or other like objects, but not including 
fences. 

VARIANCE:  A variance is a modification of the literal provisions of the Zoning Ordinance granted by the 
Zoning Board of Appeals under qualifying circumstances.   

VEHICLE:  A device or structure for transporting persons or things; a conveyance. 

YARD:  The space surrounding a structure. 

FRONT YARD:  The space extending across the full width of the lot between the front of the principal 
building and the front lot line.  

REAR YARD:  The space extending across the full width of the lot between the back of the 

Commented [RM25]: Note – all Signage definitions and regulations will need to be reviewed 
pursuant to Reed v. Gilbert  

80



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-8 

principal building and the rear lot line. 

SIDE YARD:  The space between a principal building and side lot line, extending from the 
front yard to the rear yard.  

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR (ZA):  The officer and/or his duly appointed deputies, agents, 
employees and inspectors charged with the administration and enforcement of this Ordinance. 

81



ARTICLE 3 – ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS  
Page 3-1 

ARTICLE 3 -  ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS 

3.01 ZONING DISTRICTS ESTABLISHED 
For the purpose of this Ordinance, Whitewater Township is hereby divided into the following zoning 
districts, which shall be known by the following respective symbols and names, and shall have 
boundaries as delineated on the Official Zoning Map. 

R-1 Residential
R-2 Residential
R-3 Residential
RC- Recreational
A-1 Agricultural
C-1 Commercial
N- Industrial
V – Village
COPUD Corridor Overlay PUD
PUD Planned Unit Development
MHP Manufactured Home Park

3.02 ZONING MAP  
The boundaries of the zoning districts are defined and established on the Official Zoning Map of 
Whitewater Township which is a part of this Ordinance. This map is identified by the signature of the 
township supervisor, attested to by the township clerk, and bearing the statement that this is the “Official 
Zoning Map of Whitewater Township” with an effective date.  If, in accordance with the provisions of this 
Ordinance, changes are made in district boundaries or other matter portrayed on the Official Zoning Map, 
such changes shall be made on the Official Zoning Map and include the dates of any amendments made 
thereon.  

3.03 INTERPRETATION OF ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
Where, due to the scale, lack of details, or illegibility of the Official Zoning Map, there is uncertainty, 
contradiction, or conflict as to the intended location of any zoning district boundaries shown thereon, 
interpretation concerning the exact location of district boundary lines shall be determined, upon written 
application, to the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Zoning Board of Appeals, in arriving at a decision on 
such matters, shall apply the following standards: 

(A) Boundaries indicated as approximately following roads or highways shall be construed as following
the right-of-way center lines of said roads or highways.

(B) Boundaries indicated as approximately following section lines, quarter-section lines, quarter-quarter
section lines, or lot lines shall be construed as following such lines.

(C) Boundaries indicated as approximately following Township boundary lines shall be construed as
following such boundary lines.

(D) Boundaries indicated as approximately following railroad lines shall be considered midway between
the main tracks.

(E) Boundaries indicated as approximately parallel to the center lines of streets or highways shall be
construed as parallel thereto and at such distance as indicated on the Official Zoning Map. If no
distance is given, such dimension shall be determined by using the scale shown on the Official
Zoning Map.

(F) Boundaries following the shoreline of a stream, lake, or other body of water shall be construed to
follow such shorelines, and in the event of a change in the shorelines shall be construed as moving
with the actual shorelines; boundaries indicated as approximately following the thread of streams,

Commented [RM26]: This is a new Article created to define zoning Districts in Whitewater 
Township.  It recognizes and defines an official zoning map depicting zoning districts’ 
boundaries.  It also provides rules for the interpretation of the map.  The Zoning Map is 
made a part of this ordinance.  Existing legal descriptions provided later have been 
removed so that there is only one source of information concerning the limits of zoning 
districts.    

Commented [RM27]: New Section establishing the Zoning Districts as illustrated on the 
zoning map used by Whitewater Township (see 2015 Master Plan and map on WWT 
website).   

Commented [RM28]: This new language directly connects the written Zoning Ordinance with 
the Official Zoning Map.  We will need to add this language to the zoning map (along with a 
scale)  

82



ARTICLE 4 – ZONING DISTRICTS, USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 3-2 

canals, or other bodies of water shall be construed to follow such threads. 
(G) Where the application of the aforesaid rules leaves reasonable doubt as to the boundaries between

two districts, the regulations of the more restrictive district shall govern. Commented [RM29]: New section that addresses interpretation of zoning district 
boundaries.  

83



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-1 

ARTICLE 4 - USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY 
DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS   

4.01 ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
Except as may otherwise be provided in this ordinance, every building and structure erected, every use of 
any lot, building, or structure established, every structural alteration or relocation of an existing building or 
structure occurring, and every enlargement of, or addition to an existing use, building, and structure 
occurring after the effective date of this ordinance shall be subject to all regulations of this ordinance 
applicable in the zoning district in which such use, building, or structure is located. 

4.02 PRINCIPAL USE REGULATIONS 
This Article identifies the principal land uses permitted in each of the zoning districts. No land use shall be 
established on a lot or parcel except in conformance with the use regulations provided herein.  In order to 
minimize potential land use conflicts and advance other purposes as described in Article I, land uses 
permitted in a particular Zoning District are defined as being a “Use Permitted by Right” or a “Special 
Land Use” as described hereunder. 

(A) Uses Permitted by Right: Uses permitted by right are the primary uses and structures specified for
which the district has been established.  The Zoning Administrator may approve proposed uses and
related structures if all other development standards and requirements contained in this ordinance
are met

(B) Special Land Uses:  Special land uses are uses and structures generally regarded as reasonably
compatible with the uses permitted by right in a zoning district but could also present potential land
use conflicts or are otherwise unique in character. According to Article XX, such special uses
require special consideration concerning potential impacts on adjacent properties and the Township
as a whole.

4.03 ACCESSORY USE REGULATIONS  
Accessory uses are incidental to and customarily associated with the principal use of the property, are 
permitted in all Districts, and shall conform to all applicable standards of this Ordinance (See Section XX). 

4.04 RESIDENTIAL R-1 – INTENT 
It is the intent of the Residential District R-1 to provide a dedicated space for residential structures, 
specifically Single-Family Dwellings, and the structures and uses typically associated with a residential 
area. 

(A) R-1 Use Regulations

Commented [RM30]: This Chapter will reorganize Articles V- XII into a single, more easily read 
Article.  It contains existing permitted and special uses and existing primary dimensional 
requirements.   

Commented [RM31]: New Material 

Commented [RM32]: New Material 

Commented [RM33]: We will need to reference a later section that deals with accessory uses buildings.   Now 
is is Article IV 

Commented [RM34]: Same as 6.01 

Commented [RM37]: Same as 6.10 and 6.11 

Note that existing provisions 6.12 and 6.13 are largely redundant with other sections and are removed.  

All development standards are moved to the DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS TABLE. 

Also, note changes to Church sizes to reflect a better definition of building size.   The building footprint is now a 
defined term.     

84



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-2 

Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. Single-Family Dwellings,
2. Publicly owned and operated parks and

recreational facilities.
3. The keeping of animals for home use and

enjoyment subject to all applicable
requirements of (Section X.X)

4. Adult foster care facilities serving 6 or less
individuals.

5. Family day-care homes serving 6 or less
individuals.

6. Churches with a building footprint less than 
5,000 square feet.  

7. Home occupations subject to the
requirements of (Section X.X)

8. Accessory buildings and uses customarily
incidental to the same (See Section X.X).

1. Bed and Breakfast Establishments.
2. Schools.
3. The keeping, breeding or training of dogs for

monetary gain or for profit, subject to all
applicable requirements of Article X.X.

4. Adult foster care facilities serving more than
6 individuals.

5. Family day-care homes serving more than 6
individuals.

6. Group day-care homes serving more than 6
individuals.

7. Churches with a building footprint that is
5,000 square feet or more. 

8. Planned Unit Developments.

4.05 RESIDENTIAL R-2 – INTENT 
It is the intent of the Residential District R2 to provide a dedicated space for residential structures, 
specifically, single and two-family dwellings, and accessory structures incidental thereto. 

(A) R-2 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted by right in the

Residential District R-1.
2. Two-family dwellings.
3. Schools.
4. Farming of all types, subject to the

requirements of (Section X.X)
5. Libraries.

1. All special uses permitted and as regulated
in the Residential District R-1.

2. Planned Unit Developments.
3. Residential Care Facilities, Convalescent or

Nursing Homes.

4.06 RESIDENTIAL R-3 – INTENT 
It is the intent of the Residential District R-3 to provide a dedicated space for residential structures, 
specifically multi-family dwellings, townhouses, apartments, and other compatible uses. 

(A) R-3 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted by right in Residential

District R-2.
2. All special uses permitted and as regulated

in the Residential District R-2.
3. Multi-family dwellings such as townhouses

and apartments. 

4.07 COMMERCIAL C – INTENT  
The purpose of the Commercial C District is to provide a location for a diversity of small and moderate 
scale business types and is situated along a regional arterial roadway, M-72, to serve local passers-by 
traffic and local needs. 

(A) C Use Regulations

Deleted: <#>Churches under 5,000 square feet in area.¶

Commented [RM35]: Clarify that we are talking about building footprint 

Deleted: <#>that is 

Commented [RM36]: Add reference to Accessory Use and Buildings Section.

Deleted: , Supplementary provisions

Deleted: <#>Churches 5,000 square feet or greater in area.¶

Commented [RM38]: Same as 7.01

Commented [RM39]: Same as 7.10, 7.11  

7.12 is not needed 

All development standards are moved to the DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS TABLE. 

Deleted: Article 37, Supplementary Provisions. ¶

Deleted: townhouse

Commented [RM40]: Same as 7.51

Commented [RM41]: Same as 7.60 and 7.61 

Note there is a conflict between Muni-code Document and printed version of the ZO.  Muni-code does not list 
uses permitted by right.  

Also note that the R-3 is created for multi-family dwellings, but only allows them as Special Uses.  

7.62 and 7.63 are largely redundant with other sections and are removed.  

All development standards are moved to the DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS TABLE.

Deleted: dwelling 

Commented [RM42]: All development standards are moved to the DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
TABLE. 4-1 

85



 

 
ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

Page 4-3 

Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted in Residential District 

R1, R2. 
2. Restaurants, bakeries, coffee shops, and 

diners. 
3. Office buildings and uses such as: 

accountants, legal services, medical, 
dental, and physical therapy offices. 

4. Financial institutions. 
5. Retail stores and shops; food, drug, 

variety, dry goods, clothing, music, 
hardware, equipment, and other similar 
light retail uses. 

6. Equipment, tool, and event rental 
establishments. 

7. Personal service establishments which 
perform services on the premises, such as: 
barber and beauty shops, shoe repairs, 
business services, printing, publishing, and 
related trades. 

8. Places of public assembly, religious, civic, 
and social facilities not operated for profit 
and facilities customarily incidental thereto. 

9. Licensed daycare facilities. 
10. Assisted living, extended care, and 

licensed group home facilities. 
11. Essential service, including public utility 

buildings with outside storage. 

1. Any permitted use located in a building with a 
building footprint of 10,000 square feet or 
more, includes drive-through services, offers 
live entertainment, or serves alcoholic 
beverages. 

2. Retail sales and/or rental of automobiles, 
watercraft, farming equipment, or recreational 
equipment, including servicing, repair, and/or 
storing vehicles. 

3. Fuel and oil service stations. 
4. Hotels and motels. 
5. Dwelling units that are part of a commercial 

unit, such as second-story "flats" or apartment 
units. 

6. Multi-family dwellings. 
7. Laundry and dry-cleaning establishments. 
8. Indoor and outdoor recreational facilities (e.g., 

miniature golf or athletic clubs). 
9. Production, processing, assembly, 

manufacturing or packaging of goods or 
materials. Such facilities may include testing, 
repair, storage, distribution, and sale of such 
products. 

10. Schools licensed or chartered by the State of 
Michigan and private educational institutions. 

11. Funeral homes. 
12. Veterinary clinics, veterinary hospitals, and 

related kennel facilities. 
13. Carpentry, plumbing, contracting, and other 

skilled trades. 
14. Rental storage building, with the following 

conditions included in the rental contracts and 
posted on the premises: Excluding storage of 
flammable liquids or gases, explosives or toxic 
materials. 

15. Places of public assembly, event venues, and 
social facilities operated for profit. 

16. Sexually oriented businesses. 
17. Billboards subject to the standards of Article 

XX 
18. Any other use of a retail commercial nature 

designed primarily to serve the residents of the 
area and the traveling public.

4.08 VILLAGE DISTRICT V – INTENT  
The purpose of the Village District is to maintain and enhance the traditional character of the Village of 
Williamsburg while allowing it to develop in a manner that follows the historic pattern of rural villages in 
the Grand Traverse Region. 
 
 
 
 
 

Deleted: homes 

Deleted: that exceeds 10,000 square feet, includes

Deleted: which 

Deleted: second story

Deleted: dry cleaning

Commented [RM43]: 

Commented [RM44]: Section 8.52 (A- I) was removed as it is largely redundant.  
 
Also, note that requirements in 8.62 and 8.63 are moved to the DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS TABLE.  
 
All development standards are moved to the DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS TABLE.

86



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-4 

(B) V Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses allowed in the

R1, R2, R3, and C 
Districts in buildings with 
a building footprint that is 
less than 5,000 square 
feet 

2. Apartments and offices
located above
commercial uses in
mixed-use buildings with 
a building footprint that is 
less than 5,000 square 
feet. 

1. Permitted Uses allowed in the R1, R2, R3, and C districts in
buildings with a building footprint of 5,000 square feet or more.

2. Any use in a building which exceeds 5,000 square feet, and any
use which includes drive-through services, and any use offering
live entertainment.,

4.09 INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT N - INTENT 
It is the intent of the Industrial District to provide a dedicated location to accommodate the potential noise, 
outdoor storage, and increased commercial traffic common to wholesale sales and light manufacturing 
facilities. 

A) N Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by 
Right 

Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 

1. All uses permitted
and as regulated
within the
Commercial, Village,
and Residential
Districts.

2. Wholesale
warehouses.

3. Storage warehouses.
4. Outside storage of

earth moving and
similar large
equipment.

5. Billboards, subject to
the standards of
Section X.X

1. Industry or business, the operation of which uses any product or by-
product or other thing which may cause contamination to the water,
air, or land of the area unless adequate provision is made for the
disposition of such product, by-product or waste which meets the
approval of the Planning Commission and shall not be offensive,
objectionable, or in any way endanger public health, safety or
welfare.

2. Junk, scrap metal, or salvage yards.
3. Stock yards, slaughterhouses, rendering plants, meat or pelt

processing establishments.
4. Establishments primarily engaged in heavy industry such as

smelters, foundries, heavy industrial stamping operations.
5. Any similar business or operation offensive or objectionable to public

health, safety, or welfare.
6. All special uses permitted within the Commercial, Village, and

Residential Districts.

4.10 AGRICULTURAL A-1 – INTENT 
The intent of the Agricultural District is to define areas where farming and related activities is the 
predominant land use.     

(A) A-1 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 

Commented [RM45]: Changed from “in buildings not exceeding 5,000 square feet”

Commented [RM46]: Added this Language to be consistent with other sections

Deleted: All uses allowed in the R1, R2, R3, and C Districts in buildings not exceeding 5,000 square 
feet.¶
Apartments and offices located above commercial uses in mixed-use buildings.

Deleted: that exceed 5,000 square feet.

Commented [RM48]: All development standards 9.02 & 9.12, 9.13 are moved to the DIMENSIONAL 
REQUIREMENTS TABLE.

Deleted: 9.13.

Commented [RM49]: Note – There does not appear to be an existing language of Intent for the Agricultural 
District.   Language provided is general to be refined after the Master Plan is done

87



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-5 

1. All uses permitted and as regulated in
Residential District R- 2

2. Farming of all types, including the
construction and maintenance of migrant
worker's quarters.

3. Golf courses.
4. Riding academies and stables, veterinarian

hospitals and kennels.
5. Roadside stands for the sale of fresh or

processed fruits and vegetables, grown or
produced on said property.

5. Farm Market
6. Agricultural dumps. (See Section XX)
7. Private Family Campgrounds (See Section

XX)

1. Commercial Campgrounds (See Section XX)

4.11 RECREATIONAL RC-1– INTENT 
The intent of the RC-1 Recreational District is to define areas where outdoor recreation and low-density 
residential uses are the predominant land use.     

(A) RC-1 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted and as regulated in

Residential District R- 2.
2. Bed and breakfast establishments providing

tourist/vacation accommodations.
3. Private Family Campgrounds (See Section

XX)
4. Riding academies and stables, veterinarian

hospitals and kennels
5. Hydro-electric plants.
6. State-owned conservation lands.

1. Planned Unit Developments.
2. Commercial Campgrounds (See Section XX)

4.12 PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Table 4-1 contains primary dimensional requirements for each zoning district. These requirements 
express required spatial relationships between buildings and parcels of land, such as setbacks, lot area, 
and building height. 

Commented [RM50]: It is unclear if we need to define Roadside Stands.  This may overlap with a Farm 
Market.  Revisit after the Master Plan. 

Commented [RM51]: Eliminated the extra language in 10.10 G.   The new definition in Article II defines a Farm 
Market in a way that is consistent with MDARD and the GAAMP’s.   

Commented [RM52]: Farm Market is now a defined term.   Leave Roadside stands in for now, but review more 
closely later.  

Commented [RM53]: Note – There does not appear to be an existing language of Intent for the RC-1 District.  
The language provided is should be refined after the Master Plan is done.

Commented [RM54]: This table is the same as 12.11 except that the last column, titled “land use regulated in 
Setbacks (see applicable zone regulations) is unclear.   Under this heading are the words “yes.” It is not clear what 
this means, so it was removed.  Other special setbacks will be included in the next Chapter and linked to a 
particular land use/.   

Added Minimum Dwelling Size to Chart (12.10 A) and rely on new definition for floor area.   

88



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-6 

TABLE 4-1  PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

Zoning 
District 

Min. 
Lot 

Width 
(ft.) 

Min. 
Lot 

Area 
(sq. ft.) 

Min. 
 Front 

Yard 
(ft.) 

Min. 
Side 
Yard 

(ft.) 

Min. 
Rear 
Yard 

(ft.) 

Max.  
Building 

Height 
(ft.) 

Max.  
Building 

Coverage 
(%) 

Min. 
Width: 

Max. Depth 
Ratio   

Min. 
Dwelling 

Floor 
Area- 
each 

Dwelling 
(Sq. Ft.) 

R-1 100 20,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

R-2 Single 
Family 100 12,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

R-2
Two 
Family 

120 22,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

R-3
Single 
Family 

100 12,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) -(9) 1:4 700

R-3 Multi- 
Family 120 

11,000 
per 

dwelling 
unit 

30 (3) (8) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

A-1 200 40,000 30(3)(5) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) 1:4 700
RC-1 300 5 Ac. 30(3)(6) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) 1:4 700

C-1 100 - 50(3)(7) (8) 10(3) 30(3) 35(1) 40% (9) 700

V – With 
common 
sewage 
disposal or 
water 
supply.  

80 20,000 0(2) (3) 10(3) 15(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

V - With 
common 
sewage 
disposal 
and water 
supply 

50 8,000 0(2)(3) 10(3) 15(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

V - 
Without 
common 
water 
supply or 
sewage 
disposal 

100 40,000 0(2)(3) 10(3) 15(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

N 100 - 50(3) 
Total 30%, 

but not 
less than 
15 ft.(3,8) 

30(3) 35(1) 40% (9) 1:4 700

MHP 300 17 Ac. 35(1) 700
LOTS WITH FRONTAGE ON THE BOARDMAN RIVER OR TRIBUTARIES

1. In no case shall a lot having frontage on the Boardman River or its tributaries be less 200 feet wide at the ordinary 
high-water mark, or have a lot depth of less than 200 feet. 

2. No structure shall be built within 100 feet of the ordinary high-water mark of the Boardman River or its tributaries.
FRONTAGE ON ALL OTHER LAKES AND STREAMS 

1. No structure shall be built within 50 feet of the ordinary high-water mark of all other Lakes and Streams.
ENCLOSURES/STRUCTURES FOR LIVESTOCK, DOMESTIC ANIMALS (EXCEPT HOUSE PETS)

1. All enclosures/structures for livestock, domestic animals (except house pets) shall be located on a lot that is no less 
than 2 ½ acres and may not be located closer than 100 feet from any lot line. 

Footnotes  
(1) or 2 1/2 stories above grade (whichever is less) 
(2)  New buildings shall be constructed so that their front facades are in one of the following locations: 

Commented [RM55]: The existing chart (12.11) contains no standards for the Village Zoning District. Instead, 
standards existed in 8.62 and were moved to this table to keep similar requirements together.  

Deleted: ¶
¶

Deleted: .

Deleted: Structure 

Commented [RM56]: Changed the term maximum structure height to maximum building height.  Building 
Height is a defined term in Article 2.  Buildings and structures are different things.  A structure may include cell 
towers, billboards, water towers, etc. 

Deleted: Foot Print

Deleted: sq. ft.

Commented [RM57]: Use Building Coverage term (see definitions - rather than "maximum coverage of lot 
which is not defined in Article 2)

Deleted: Ratio

Deleted:  D

Deleted: A-1

Commented [RM58]: No building height limit was found in the existing ordinance in the V district.   35 feet 
(or 2 1/2 stories above grade) was added to be consistent.  

Commented [RM59]: No building height limit was found in the existing ordinance in the V district.   35 feet 
(or 2 1/2 stories above grade) were added to be consistent.  

Commented [RM60]: No building height limit was found in the existing ordinance in the V district.   35 feet 
(or 2 1/2 stories above grade) was added to be consistent.  

Commented [RM61]: The required side yard setbacks in the N District should be reviewed.  A thirty percent 
side yard (total) may be excessive, especially for large parcels)

Commented [RM62]: Text is based on Footnote 2 with changes noted below. 

Simplified terms related to ordinary high-water mark and depth of lot.  Both terms are already defined in Article 
2.  Don’t confuse terms and use defined terminology in Article 2.  It is better to say lot depth than saying the lot
has to be 200 feet deep. 

Delete two standards for lot width.  We should have only one to be clear. Setbacks at the ordinary high-water 
mark seem clearer and more straightforward.  

Commented [RM63]: Added “(whichever is less).   Currently, it just says 35 feet or 2 ½ stories. Would a 
building that is 2 ½ stories and 37 feet tall comply? 

89



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-7 

a. The same distance from the road as any adjacent principal building (on the same side of the road) 
within 100 feet, or 
b. The average distance from the road of both adjacent principal buildings (on the same side of the 
road) if within 100 feet, or 
c. If no principal buildings are within 100 feet on the same side of the road, the front setback shall be 15 
or more feet from the front lot line or such other distance as the Planning Commission may approve by 
site plan review. 

(3) No structure shall be built within the minimum yards required except when expressly allowed elsewhere
in this Ordinance. 

(4) A dock may be constructed parallel to the bank, not exceeding ten (10) feet in length 
(5) When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the A-1 Zone, the required front yard setback is 100 feet.
(6) When a lot has frontage on Supply Road, the required front yard setback is 150 feet. 
(7) When a lot has frontage on Old 72 in the C-1 Zone, the required front yard setback is 30 feet. 
(8) When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required front yard is 75 feet.
(9) When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the maximum building coverage is 33% 

When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required lot width is 100 feet.   
When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required rear yard 30 feet.   
When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required minimum width to depth ratio is 

1:40  

Commented [RM64]: This existing language needs to be updated to be clearer and more concise after the 
Master Plan is done. 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: . and not protruding in the stream, and when constructed of natural materials such as 
rocks or logs.

Commented [RM65]: The requirement that the dock can’t protrude into the stream and must be made of natural 
material seems odd. 

Commented [RM66]: This is existing material (last line on the existing chart - but it is meaningless as 100 foot 
frontage is required above in C-1, R-3 and N. 

Commented [RM67]: These provisions are listed in the very last row of the existing chart, but are not needed as 
they dulicate requirements contained in the existing chart. 

Deleted: <#>HARDSHIP ¶
No requirements contained in this Article shall prevent the use of a lot or parcel of land of lesser size, 
provided the same was of legal record or had been laid out by a registered surveyor prior to the 
effective date of this Ordinance; and provided, further, that as to any lot or parcel of land not of legal 
record or so laid out on the date of passage of this Ordinance, if any conditions shall create a 
hardship in complying with the restrictions contained in this Article, then the Planning Commission 
may grant deviation therefrom after first determining that the same shall not be inimical to the public 
health, safety or welfare.¶

90



WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE  

WORKING DRAFT  

** NO MARKUPS

91



ARTICLE 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 
Page 2 

Table of Contents 

ARTICLE 1 - TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE .................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.01 Short Title .......................................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................................. 1-1 
1.03 Scope  ............................................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.04 Splitting Lots Within A Recorded Subdivision ............................................................................................... 1-1 
1.05 Rules of Interpretation ...................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.06 Severability Clause .......................................................................................................................................... 1-2 
1.07 Repeal ............................................................................................................................................................... 1-2 
1.08 Effective Date .................................................................................................................................................... 1-2 

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS............................................................................................................................................ 2-1 
2.01 Definitions .......................................................................................................................................................... 2-1 

ARTICLE 3 - ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS ............................................................................................................ 3-1 
3.01 Zoning Districts Established ............................................................................................................................ 3-1 
3.02 Zoning Map ....................................................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.03 Interpretation Of Zoning District Boundaries ................................................................................................. 3-1 

ARTICLE 4 - USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS   .................................. 4-1 
4.01 Zoning District Regulations ............................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.02 Principal Use Regulations ............................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.03 Accessory Use Regulations ............................................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.04 Residential R-1 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.05 Residential R-2 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.06 Residential R-3 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.07 Commercial C – Intent ..................................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.08 Village District V – Intent .................................................................................................................................. 4-3 
4.09 Industrial District N - Intent ............................................................................................................................... 4-4 
4.10 Agricultural A-1 – Intent ................................................................................................................................... 4-4 
4.11 Recreational RC-1– Intent ............................................................................................................................... 4-5 
4.12 Primary Dimensional Requirements .............................................................................................................. 4-5 

92



ARTICLE 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 
Page 1-1 

ARTICLE 1 - TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 

1.01 SHORT TITLE 
This Ordinance shall be known and cited as the Whitewater Township Zoning Ordinance, and will be 
referred to herein as "this Ordinance." 

1.02 PURPOSE 
The fundamental purpose of this Ordinance is to promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the 
inhabitants of the Township by: 

(A) Promoting the orderly development of the Township.
(B) Encouraging the use of lands and resources of the Township in accordance with their character and

adaptability.
(C) Securing safety from fire and other dangers and providing for safety in traffic, adequacy of parking

and reduction in hazards to life and property.
(D) Facilitating the development of adequate systems of fire protection, education, recreation, water

supplies and sanitary facilities.
(E) Conserving the use of public funds for public improvement and services to conform with the most

advantageous use of lands, properties and resources of the Township.
(F) Protecting fish and wildlife resources, water quality, scenic and aesthetic qualities, historical and

recreational values.
(G) Preventing flood damages due to interference with natural drainage characteristics of rivers and

streams.
(H) Promoting the economic progress of the Township and protecting and enhancing the property

values thereof.

1.03 SCOPE 
It is not intended by this Ordinance to repeal, abrogate, annul, or in any way impair or interfere with 
existing provisions of law or ordinance, except as hereinafter specifically repealed, or with any rules, 
regulations or permits previously adopted or issued or which shall be adopted or issued pursuant to law, 
relating to the use of buildings or premises, or with any private restrictions placed upon property by 
covenant or deed; provided, however, that where this Ordinance imposes a greater restriction upon the 
use of buildings or premises than are imposed or required by such existing provisions of law or ordinance 
or by such rules, regulations or permits or by such private restrictions, the provisions of this Ordinance 
shall control. 

1.04 SPLITTING LOTS WITHIN A RECORDED SUBDIVISION 
No lot, outlot or other parcel of land in a recorded plat shall be further partitioned or divided unless in 
conformity with the standard of the district in which it exists.  

1.05 RULES OF INTERPRETATION 
The following rules are intended to clarify the intent of the standards within this Ordinance. The following 
shall apply, except when clearly indicated otherwise: 

(A) Terms not defined shall be assumed to have the customary meaning assigned them.
(B) Any interpretation of this Ordinance shall be defined by the Whitewater Township Zoning Board of

Appeals.
(C) The particular shall control the general.
(D) The word "shall" is always mandatory and never discretionary. The word "may" is permissive.

93



ARTICLE 1 – TITLE, PURPOSE, SCOPE 
Page 1-2 

(E) The phrase "used for" includes "arranged for," "designed for," "intended for," "maintained for," and
"occupied for."

(F) Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, where a regulation involves two (2) or more items,
conditions, provisions or events, the terms "and," "or," "either ... or," such conjunction shall be
interpreted as follows:

(G) "And" denotes that all the items, conditions, provisions or events apply in combination.
(H) "Or" indicates that the items, conditions, provisions or events may apply individually or in any

combination.
(I) "Township" shall refer specifically to "Whitewater Township."
(J) The term "person" shall mean an individual, firm, corporation, association, partnership, limited

liability company or other legal entity, or their agents.

1.06 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
If any clause, sentence, subsentence, paragraph, section or part of this Ordinance be adjudged by any 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect. Impair or invalidate the 
remainder thereof, but shall be confined in its operation to the clause, sentence, subsentence, paragraph, 
section or part thereof directly involved in the controversy in which said judgment shall have been 
rendered. 

1.07 REPEAL 
All zoning ordinances and amendments, or parts of zoning ordinances inconsistent with the provisions of 
this Ordinance are hereby repealed as of the effective date of this Ordinance. The repeal of existing 
ordinances or parts of ordinances and their amendments does not affect or impair any act done, offense 
committed or right accrued or acquired, or liability, penalty, forfeiture or punishment incurred prior to the 
time it was enforced, prosecuted or inflicted. 

1.08 EFFECTIVE DATE 
This Ordinance and any amendments shall take effect pursuant to Article XX, and Public Act 110 of 2006 
as amended and upon passage by Township Board.  

94



ARTICLE 2 – DEFINITIONS 
Page 2-1 

ARTICLE 2 - DEFINITIONS 

2.01 DEFINITIONS  
For the purposes of this ordinance, the following definitions apply.  

ACCESSORY BUILDING: A supplemental building or structure located on the same lot as the primary 
building or where a primary use is being established. 

ACCESSORY USE: A use naturally incident to and subordinate to the main use of the land or building. 

ADULT FOSTER CARE FACILITIES: A governmental or nongovernmental establishment having as its 
principal function the receiving of adults for foster care. Subject to Michigan Public Act 218 of 1979 as 
amended, adult foster care facilities include facilities and foster care family homes for adults who are 
aged, mentally ill, developmentally disabled, or physically disabled who require supervision on an ongoing 
basis but who do not require continuous nursing care. An adult foster care facility does not include a 
nursing home, home for the aged, hospital, hospital for the mentally ill, facility for the developmentally 
disabled, county infirmary, childcaring institution, an establishment commonly described as an alcohol or 
substance abuse rehabilitation center, a residential facility for persons released from or assigned to an 
adult correctional institution, and any other use excluded under Act 218 of 1979 as amended. 

AGRICULTURAL COOLING PAD: The area and its related equipment where crops, cherries in 
particular, are collected, temporarily stored, and rinsed with water to lower the temperature and prepare 
the crop for transport and processing. 

AGRICULTURAL PREMISES: A premises used or occupied for the cultivation of field crops, truck crops, 
nurseries, orchards, greenhouses, woodlots, pastures, husbandry of livestock, poultry or small animals, or 
any activities of a similar nature. 

AGRICULTURAL STAGING AREA: An area where trucks, transport equipment, harvesting coordination, 
and assembly and loading of agricultural products takes place related to the logistics of harvesting and 
transporting agricultural crops. 

BED AND BREAKFAST:   A single family residential structure that meets all of the following criteria: 
 Has 10 or fewer sleeping rooms, including sleeping rooms occupied by the innkeeper, 1 or more

of which are available for rent to transient tenants.
 Serves meals at no extra cost to its transient tenants.
 Has a smoke detector in proper working order in each sleeping room and a fire extinguisher in

proper working order on each floor.

BILLBOARD: A sign structure generally available for lease or rent, although sometimes owned by the 
user, intended to support an off-premises business. Commercial Outdoor Advertising and Outdoor 
Advertising are other terms commonly applied to larger billboards. 

BUILDING: A structure having a roof supported by columns or walls for the shelter, support, or enclosure 
of persons, animals, or property. 

BUILDING COVERAGE: The horizontal area measured within the outside of the exterior walls of the 
ground floor of all principal and accessory buildings on a permanent foundation on a lot.  

BUILDING FOOTPRINT:  The area of land occupied by the foundation of a building and does not include 
appurtenances like decks unless they are on a permanent foundation. 

95



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-2 

BUILDING HEIGHT: The building height is the vertical distance measured from the finished grade level to 
the highest point of the roof surface if a flat roof; to the deck of mansard roofs; and to the mean height 
level between eaves and ridges of gable, hip and gambrel roofs. Where the building may be situated on 
sloping terrain, this height shall be measured from the highest finished grade at the building wall. 

BUFFER STRIP: A strip of land reserved or used for plant material, berms, walls, or fencing to serve as a 
visual and/or sound barrier between properties, often required between properties in different zoning 
districts. 

CABIN: A simple housing structure providing temporary accommodation for recreational purposes. 

CAMPGROUND, COMMERCIAL: A campground owned and operated expressly for the purpose of 
renting space in the campground on a transient basis for profit to the general public. A campground 
owned and operated by a non-profit organization for the exclusive temporary use and enjoyment of its 
members shall also be considered a commercial campground. 

CAMPGROUND, PRIVATE FAMILY: Parcels of land owned and operated exclusively for the temporary 
use and enjoyment of those sharing in the ownership of the parcel, their invited guests and are not for 
remuneration. 

CONDOMINIUM CONVERSION: Any property or group of properties whose form of ownership is 
changed to condominium units from another form of ownership.  A condominium conversion also refers to 
a condominium project containing condominium units some or all of which were occupied before the filing 
of a notice of taking reservations under section 71 of the Condominium Act 59 of 1978.    

CONDOMINIUM UNIT: That portion of a condominium project or site condominium subdivision which is 
designed and intended for separate ownership and use, as described in the master deed, regardless of 
whether it is intended for residential, office, industrial, business, recreational, use as a time-share unit, or 
any other type of use. The owner of a "condominium unit" also owns a share of the common elements.  
The term "condominium unit" shall be equivalent to the term "lot" for purposes of determining compliance 
of a site condominium subdivision with provisions of this Ordinance pertaining to minimum lot size, 
minimum lot width, maximum lot coverage, and maximum floor area ratio. 

CONDOMINIUM PROJECT: A plan or project consisting of not less than two (2) condominium units if 
established and approved in conformance with the Condominium Act (Public Act 59 of 1978).  The term 
“condominium project” is also defined as being synonymous with term “condominium development” 
herein. 

COMMERCIAL PREMISES: A premises used or occupied for transportation, retail sales or service 
businesses, wholesale sales facilities, apartments, hotels, motels, or commercial recreation. 

COMMUNITY IMPACT STATEMENT: An assessment of the developmental, ecological, social, economic 
and physical impacts of a project on the natural environment and the physical improvements on and 
surrounding the development site. Information required for compliance with other ordinances shall not be 
required to be duplicated in the Community Impact Statement. 

CORRIDOR OVERLAY PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (COPUD): A corridor overlay zone which 
employs the methods and techniques of a planned unit development. 

CUL-DE-SAC: A circular vehicular turn-around at the end of a private road or easement. 

DEED RESTRICTION: A restriction on a property that is recorded as part of a deed with the County 
Register of Deeds. A deed restriction is binding on subsequent owners and enforced by the parties to the 
agreement. 

DOMESTIC PETS: Dogs, cats and other animals customarily housed within a dwelling. 

96



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-3 

DWELLING: Any building or structure or portion thereof legally occupied as the home, residence, or 
sleeping place of one or more persons. 

MULTIPLE FAMILY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof used or designed as a 
residence for three (3) or more families living independently of each other and independently doing their 
own cooking in said building. This definition includes three-family houses, four-family houses and 
apartments, but does not include trailer camps or mobile home parks. 

SINGLE FAMILY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof containing not more than one 
dwelling unit designed for residential use and attached to a permanent foundation, except where 
hereinafter exempt. 

TEMPORARY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof that is intended to be used on a 
temporary basis, has some of the facilities of a conventional dwelling, and is used in conjunction with the 
construction of a permanent residence. 

TWO FAMILY DWELLING: A building, structure, or portion thereof designed for or occupied exclusively 
by two families living independently of each other and attached to a permanent foundation, except where 
hereinafter exempt. 

EASEMENT: A grant of one or more of the property rights by a property owner to and/or for use by the 
public, or another person or entity.  

EQUIPMENT: Tangible property, excluding land, buildings, and vehicles, that is used in the operations of 
a business or completion of a task.  

EXISTING BUILDING: A building existing or for which the foundations are in place or upon which there 
has been substantial work done prior to the effective date of this Ordinance or any amendment thereto.  

EXISTING USE: A use of premises or buildings or structures actually in operation, openly, visibly and 
notoriously prior to the effective date of this Ordinance or any amendment thereto. 

FARM MARKET – A farm market is a year-round or seasonal location where transactions and marketing 
activities between farm market operators and customers take place. A farm market may be a physical 
structure such as a building or tent, or simply an area where a transaction between a customer and a 
farmer is made. The farm market does not have to be a physical structure. The farm market must be 
located on property owned or controlled (e.g., leased) by the producer of the products offered for sale at 
the market. Fresh products as well as processed products may be sold at the farm market. At least 
50percent of the products offered must be produced on and by the affiliated farm measured by retail floor 
space during peak production season, or 50 percent of the average gross sales for up to the previous five 
years or as outlined in a business plan. Processed products will be considered as produced on and by the 
farm if at least 50 percent of the product’s primary or namesake ingredient was produced on and by the 
farm, such as apples used in apple pie, maple sap in maple syrup, strawberries in strawberry jam, etc. 

FENCE: A fence is a structure usually constructed from posts that are connected by boards, wire, rails or 
netting enclosing an area of ground to mark a boundary, control access, prevent escape, or provide a 
decorative feature. 

FLOOR AREA:    The sum of the horizontal areas of each floor of a building, measured from the interior 
faces of the exterior walls or from the centerline of walls separating two buildings. The floor area 
measurement is exclusive of areas of basements, unfinished attics, attached garages or space used for 
off-street parking or loading, breezeways, enclosed and unenclosed porches, elevator or stair bulkheads, 
and accessory structures.  

GREENBELT:  An area of grass, trees and other natural vegetation between a structure or parking area 

97



 

 
ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  

Page 2-4 

and a public thoroughfare. 
 
HAMMERHEAD TURNAROUND:  A T-shaped vehicular turnaround at the end of a road or easement. 

 
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES AND POLLUTING MATERIALS:  Hazardous substances and 
polluting materials shall mean hazardous chemicals as defined by the Michigan Department of Public 
Health and the Michigan Department of Labor; flammable and combustible liquids as defined by the 
Michigan State Police Fire Marshal Division; critical materials, polluting materials and hazardous waste as 
defined by the Michigan Department of Natural Resources; hazardous substances as defined by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency, and hazardous materials as defined by the U.S. Department of 
Transportation.   
 
HIGHWAY:  Any public thoroughfare in Whitewater Township, including federal and state roads  
and highways. 
 
HOME OCCUPATIONS:  An occupation or business activity located within a residential  
dwelling or in an accessory building which is clearly subordinate to the principal residential use. 

 
IMPLEMENT:  A tool or an instrument used in doing work.   
    
INSTITUTIONAL PREMISES:  Shall be interpreted to include such premises or portions thereof upon 
which is situated a public utility or other publicly owned, operated, or administered facility, any public, 
private or commercial vocational school, a cultural facility, including a museum, library or auditorium, or a 
religious or charitable facility.   
 
LAND DIVISION:  Creation of a new lot or parcel. 

 
LOT:  A parcel of land separated from other parcels of land by description on a recorded plat or by 
metes-and-bounds description which meets the requirements of this Ordinance, a condominium unit in a 
site condominium which meets the requirements of this Ordinance, a common area or element in a 
condominium project, a condominium unit. 
 
CORNER LOT:  Any lot having at least two (2) contiguous sides abutting upon one or more streets, 
provided that the interior angle at the intersection of such two sides is less than one hundred thirty-five 
(135) degrees.  A lot abutting a curved street(s) shall be a corner lot if the arc has a radius less than one 
hundred and fifty (150) feet.  Corner lots, for the purpose of setbacks, shall have two front lot lines and 
two side lot lines.  
 
INTERIOR LOT:  A lot which has only one lot line or portion thereof fronting on a street. 
 
LOT AREA: The area of the horizontal plane within the lot lines of a lot, exclusive of the area of any 
public or private road right-of-way adjoining any portion of the lot. Lot area is also defined as only 
including land unbroken by any road, street, or thoroughfare.  
 
LOT DEPTH:  The average horizontal distance between the front and rear lot lines, measured along the 
average midpoint between side lot lines.   
 
LOT FRONTAGE:  The length of the front lot line. 
 
LOT OF RECORD:  A tract of land which is part of a subdivision shown on a plat or map which has been 
recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Grand Traverse County, Michigan; or a tract of land 
described by metes-and-bounds which is the subject of a deed or land contract which is likewise recorded 
in the Office of the Register of Deeds. 
 
LOT WIDTH:   The horizontal distance between side lot lines measured at the required front setback. 

 

98



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-5 

NONCONFORMING LOT:  A lot of record which does not meet the requirements of this Ordinance. 

THROUGH LOT (also called a double frontage lot):  An interior lot having frontage on two (2) more or less 
parallel streets. 

LOT LINES:  The property lines bounding a lot or parcel. 

FRONT LOT LINE:  The line separating a lot from any street right-of-way, private road 
or other access easement.  In the case of a waterfront lot, the line which fronts on a navigable waterway 
shall be a front lot line.  Corner lots, for the purpose of setbacks, shall have two front lot lines and two 
side lot lines.  

REAR LOT LINE:  The line opposite and most distant from the front lot line.  In the case of a triangular or 
otherwise irregularly shaped lot or parcel, an imaginary line ten (10) feet in length entirely within the lot or 
parcel, parallel to and at a maximum distance from the front line.   

SIDE LOT LINE:  Any lot line other than a front or rear lot line. 

ZERO LOT LINE:  The location of a building on a lot in such a manner that one or more of the building's 
sides rest directly on or adjacent to a lot line. 

MANAGED VEGETATIVE STRIP:  A natural vegetative area extending along both sides of  
rivers, streams or watercourses, containing native trees, shrubs and other vegetation and natural 
materials.  The purpose of the managed vegetative strip is to stabilize the river banks, prevent erosion, 
absorb nutrients in water runoff from adjacent lands, provide shading for the stream to maintain cool 
water temperatures, and screening of adjacent man-made structures. 

MANUFACTURED HOME:  A dwelling unit constructed primarily within a factory in modules or 
components, which are then transported to a site where they are assembled on a permanent foundation 
to form a dwelling, and meet all codes and regulations applicable to conventional home construction.  

MASTER DEED:  The document recorded as part of a site condominium subdivision to which are 
attached as exhibits, and incorporated by reference, the approved bylaws for the site condominium 
subdivision and the site condominium subdivision plan. 

MOBILE HOME:  A structure, with a title issued by the State of Michigan, that is approved by the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), and can be moved in one (1) or more sections, 
which is built on a chassis and designed as a dwelling with or without permanent foundation, when 
connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, and electrical systems.  "Mobile 
home" does not include a recreational vehicle or recreational trailer but shall include HUD housing. 

MOBILE HOME OR MANUFACTURED HOME CONDOMINIUM PROJECT:  A condominium project in 
which mobile homes or manufactured homes are located upon separate sites which constitute individual 
condominium units. 

MOBILE HOME PARK, TRAILER COACH PARK, OR PARK:  Any parcel or tract of land under the 
control of any person, upon which three (3) or more occupied trailer coaches are harbored on a continual 
basis, or which is offered to the public for that purpose, regardless of whether a charge is made therefor, 
together with any building, structure, enclosure, street, equipment or facility used or intended for use 
incident to the harboring or occupancy of trailer coaches; except as provided by Section 91, Public Act 
172 of 1970. 

MOBILE HOME SUBDIVISION:  A subdivision approved under the Land Division Act (Public Act 288 of 
1967), as amended, which by deed restriction has been designated solely for occupancy by mobile 
homes, HUD, or similar housing. 

99



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-6 

MODULAR HOUSING UNIT:  See Manufactured Home. 

NATURAL FEATURES:  Natural features shall include soils, wetlands, floodplain, water bodies, sand 
dunes, topography, vegetative cover and geologic formations.  

NONCONFORMING USE:  A use which lawfully occupied a structure or site prior to the effective date of 
this Ordinance or any amendment thereto, and which does not conform with the current use regulations 
of the district in which it is located. 

NONCONFORMING STRUCTURE:  A structure lawfully existing prior to the effective date 
of this Ordinance or any amendment thereto, which does not meet the current zoning ordinance 
standards for building size or location on a lot for its use and district.  

NUISANCE:  An offensive, annoying, unpleasant, or obnoxious thing or practice, especially when 
constant or repetitive.  A condition which is perceivable and extends its effect upon neighbors across 
property lines by the generation of excessive noise, odors, trash, abnormal traffic, congregation of people 
(particularly at night), or other similar conditions. 

ORDINARY HIGH-WATER MARK:  The point on the bank or shore up to which the presence and action 
of the water is so continuous as to leave a distinct mark either by erosion, destruction of terrestrial 
vegetation, or other easily recognized characteristic.  

OUTDOOR DISPLAY AREA:  An outdoor arrangement of objects, items, products, or other materials, 
typically not in a fixed position and capable of rearrangement, designed and used for the purpose of 
advertising or identifying a business, product, or service. 

OUTDOOR INVENTORY AREA:  A designated outdoor area designed to allow for storage of excess 
inventory in a manner not visible to the public.  

OUTDOOR SALES AREA:  The display and sale of products and services outside of a building or 
structure, including vehicles, garden supplies, gas, motor oil, food and beverages, boats and 
aircraft, farm equipment, motor homes, burial monuments, building and landscape materials, and similar 
materials or items. 

PARCEL:  A lot described by metes and bounds or described in a recorded plat. 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD):  A piece of property developed as a separate neighborhood or 
community unit.  This form of development is based on an approved site plan and allows flexibility of 
design not available under normal zoning district requirements.  The plan may contain a mixture of 
housing types, open spaces, and other various land uses. 

PLAT:  A map of a subdivision of land. 

PLOT PLAN:  The documents and drawings normally consisting of a drawing of the subject lot or parcel 
of land together with an outline drawing of the proposed structure(s) or modification(s), 
including all porches, extensions and roof overhangs, showing the principal dimensions of the 
structure(s) and all setback distances measured perpendicular to all lot lines.  The documents and 
drawings shall bear the name, address and telephone number of the landowner and applicant, and the 
date of the application. 

PREMISES:  A unit of contiguous real property under common ownership.  

PRIMARY or PRINCIPAL BUILDING:  A building which houses the main or principal use of the lot on 
which it is located.  All other buildings are accessory structures. 

PRIMARY OR PRINCIPAL USE:  The main use to which the lot or premises are devoted.  For example, 

100



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-7 

the main use of a single-family home is residential, and the main use of a retail store is commercial.  

RECREATIONAL PREMISES:  A premises used or occupied for recreational purposes, including parks, 
play areas, indoor or outdoor swimming pools, bathing beaches, boating and fishing areas, winter 
recreational areas, nature study areas, community halls and fairgrounds.   

RECREATIONAL UNIT:  A vehicular structure, primarily designed as temporary living quarters for 
recreational camping or travel use, which either has its own motive power or is mounted on or drawn by 
another vehicle which is self-powered.  Recreational units shall include travel trailers, camping trailers, 
motor homes, truck campers, slide-in campers and chassis-mounted dwellings. 

SIGN:  Any words, lettering, figures, numerals, phrases, sentences, emblems, devices, designs, 
trademarks, or combination thereof, by which anything is made known, such as the designation of an 
event, a firm, a profession, a business or product, which are visible from any street or road and used as 
an outdoor display.  

SIGN STRUCTURE:  A permanent physical structure on a fixed footing, foundation, column or base 
designed or used for the support and/or illumination of a sign.   

SITE CONDOMINIUM SUBDIVISION:  A division of land on the basis of condominium ownership, which 
is not subject to the provisions of the Subdivision Control Act, Public Act 288 of 1967, as amended, but is 
subject to the requirements of the Condominium Act, Public Act 59 of 1978, as amended.  

SITE CONDOMINIUM SUBDIVISION PLAN:  The drawings attached to the master deed for a site 
condominium subdivision which describes the size, location, area, horizontal and vertical boundaries and 
volume of each condominium unit contained in the site condominium subdivision, as well as the nature, 
location and size of common elements. 

SITE PLAN:  A plan drawn to scale showing proposed uses and structures for a parcel 
of land, including any details necessary to illustrate the final proposed use.  A site plan may include 
elements such as the location of lot lines, the location of buildings, open spaces, parking, landscaping, 
and utility lines.  

SPECIAL USES:  Special uses are those uses which are not essentially incompatible with the uses 
permitted in a zoning district but require individual review and standards to avoid conflict with adjacent 
uses of land.   

SPECIAL USE PERMIT:  A permit issued by the Planning Commission following a public hearing which 
allows a specific activity in and on a property with additional specified requirements or provisions. 

STRUCTURE:  A structure is any production or piece of material artificially built up or composed of parts 
joined together in some definite manner; any construction, including dwellings, garages, building, mobile 
homes, signs and sign boards, tower, poles, antennae, stand pipes or other like objects, but not including 
fences. 

VARIANCE:  A variance is a modification of the literal provisions of the Zoning Ordinance granted by the 
Zoning Board of Appeals under qualifying circumstances.   

VEHICLE:  A device or structure for transporting persons or things; a conveyance. 

YARD:  The space surrounding a structure. 

FRONT YARD:  The space extending across the full width of the lot between the front of the principal 
building and the front lot line.  

REAR YARD:  The space extending across the full width of the lot between the back of the 

101



ARTICLE  2 – DEFINITIONS  
Page 2-8 

principal building and the rear lot line.  

SIDE YARD:  The space between a principal building and side lot line, extending from the 
front yard to the rear yard.  

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR (ZA):  The officer and/or his duly appointed deputies, agents, 
employees and inspectors charged with the administration and enforcement of this Ordinance. 

102



ARTICLE 3 – ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS  
Page 3-1 

ARTICLE 3 -  ZONING MAP AND DISTRICTS 

3.01 ZONING DISTRICTS ESTABLISHED 
For the purpose of this Ordinance, Whitewater Township is hereby divided into the following zoning 
districts, which shall be known by the following respective symbols and names, and shall have 
boundaries as delineated on the Official Zoning Map. 

R-1 Residential
R-2 Residential
R-3 Residential
RC- Recreational
A-1 Agricultural
C-1 Commercial
N- Industrial
V – Village
COPUD Corridor Overlay PUD
PUD Planned Unit Development
MHP Manufactured Home Park

3.02 ZONING MAP  
The boundaries of the zoning districts are defined and established on the Official Zoning Map of 
Whitewater Township which is a part of this Ordinance. This map is identified by the signature of the 
township supervisor, attested to by the township clerk, and bearing the statement that this is the “Official 
Zoning Map of Whitewater Township” with an effective date.  If, in accordance with the provisions of this 
Ordinance, changes are made in district boundaries or other matter portrayed on the Official Zoning Map, 
such changes shall be made on the Official Zoning Map and include the dates of any amendments made 
thereon.  

3.03 INTERPRETATION OF ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
Where, due to the scale, lack of details, or illegibility of the Official Zoning Map, there is uncertainty, 
contradiction, or conflict as to the intended location of any zoning district boundaries shown thereon, 
interpretation concerning the exact location of district boundary lines shall be determined, upon written 
application, to the Zoning Board of Appeals. The Zoning Board of Appeals, in arriving at a decision on 
such matters, shall apply the following standards: 

(A) Boundaries indicated as approximately following roads or highways shall be construed as following
the right-of-way center lines of said roads or highways.

(B) Boundaries indicated as approximately following section lines, quarter-section lines, quarter-quarter
section lines, or lot lines shall be construed as following such lines.

(C) Boundaries indicated as approximately following Township boundary lines shall be construed as
following such boundary lines.

(D) Boundaries indicated as approximately following railroad lines shall be considered midway between
the main tracks.

(E) Boundaries indicated as approximately parallel to the center lines of streets or highways shall be
construed as parallel thereto and at such distance as indicated on the Official Zoning Map. If no
distance is given, such dimension shall be determined by using the scale shown on the Official
Zoning Map.

(F) Boundaries following the shoreline of a stream, lake, or other body of water shall be construed to
follow such shorelines, and in the event of a change in the shorelines shall be construed as moving
with the actual shorelines; boundaries indicated as approximately following the thread of streams,

103



ARTICLE 4 – ZONING DISTRICTS, USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 3-2 

canals, or other bodies of water shall be construed to follow such threads. 
(G) Where the application of the aforesaid rules leaves reasonable doubt as to the boundaries between

two districts, the regulations of the more restrictive district shall govern.

104



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-1 

ARTICLE 4 - USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY 
DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS   

4.01 ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
Except as may otherwise be provided in this ordinance, every building and structure erected, every use of 
any lot, building, or structure established, every structural alteration or relocation of an existing building or 
structure occurring, and every enlargement of, or addition to an existing use, building, and structure 
occurring after the effective date of this ordinance shall be subject to all regulations of this ordinance 
applicable in the zoning district in which such use, building, or structure is located.  

4.02 PRINCIPAL USE REGULATIONS 
This Article identifies the principal land uses permitted in each of the zoning districts. No land use shall be 
established on a lot or parcel except in conformance with the use regulations provided herein.  In order to 
minimize potential land use conflicts and advance other purposes as described in Article I, land uses 
permitted in a particular Zoning District are defined as being a “Use Permitted by Right” or a “Special 
Land Use” as described hereunder. 

(A) Uses Permitted by Right: Uses permitted by right are the primary uses and structures specified for
which the district has been established.  The Zoning Administrator may approve proposed uses and
related structures if all other development standards and requirements contained in this ordinance
are met

(B) Special Land Uses:  Special land uses are uses and structures generally regarded as reasonably
compatible with the uses permitted by right in a zoning district but could also present potential land
use conflicts or are otherwise unique in character. According to Article XX, such special uses
require special consideration concerning potential impacts on adjacent properties and the Township
as a whole.

4.03 ACCESSORY USE REGULATIONS  
Accessory uses are incidental to and customarily associated with the principal use of the property, are 
permitted in all Districts, and shall conform to all applicable standards of this Ordinance (See Section XX). 

4.04 RESIDENTIAL R-1 – INTENT  
It is the intent of the Residential District R-1 to provide a dedicated space for residential structures, 
specifically Single-Family Dwellings, and the structures and uses typically associated with a residential 
area. 

(A) R-1 Use Regulations

105



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-2 

Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. Single-Family Dwellings,
2. Publicly owned and operated parks and

recreational facilities.
3. The keeping of animals for home use and

enjoyment subject to all applicable
requirements of (Section X.X)

4. Adult foster care facilities serving 6 or less
individuals.

5. Family day-care homes serving 6 or less
individuals.

6. Churches with a building footprint less than
5,000 square feet.

7. Home occupations subject to the
requirements of (Section X.X)

8. Accessory buildings and uses customarily
incidental to the same (See Section X.X).

1. Bed and Breakfast Establishments.
2. Schools.
3. The keeping, breeding or training of dogs for

monetary gain or for profit, subject to all
applicable requirements of Article X.X.

4. Adult foster care facilities serving more than
6 individuals.

5. Family day-care homes serving more than 6
individuals.

6. Group day-care homes serving more than 6
individuals.

7. Churches with a building footprint that is
5,000 square feet or more.

8. Planned Unit Developments.

4.05 RESIDENTIAL R-2 – INTENT 
It is the intent of the Residential District R2 to provide a dedicated space for residential structures, 
specifically, single and two-family dwellings, and accessory structures incidental thereto. 

(A) R-2 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted by right in the

Residential District R-1.
2. Two-family dwellings.
3. Schools.
4. Farming of all types, subject to the

requirements of (Section X.X)
5. Libraries.

1. All special uses permitted and as regulated
in the Residential District R-1.

2. Planned Unit Developments.
3. Residential Care Facilities, Convalescent or

Nursing Homes.

4.06 RESIDENTIAL R-3 – INTENT 
It is the intent of the Residential District R-3 to provide a dedicated space for residential structures, 
specifically multi-family dwellings, townhouses, apartments, and other compatible uses. 

(A) R-3 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted by right in Residential

District R-2.
2. All special uses permitted and as regulated

in the Residential District R-2.
3. Multi-family dwellings such as townhouses

and apartments.

4.07 COMMERCIAL C – INTENT  
The purpose of the Commercial C District is to provide a location for a diversity of small and moderate 
scale business types and is situated along a regional arterial roadway, M-72, to serve local passers-by 
traffic and local needs. 

(A) C Use Regulations

106



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-3 

Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted in Residential District

R1, R2.
2. Restaurants, bakeries, coffee shops, and

diners.
3. Office buildings and uses such as:

accountants, legal services, medical,
dental, and physical therapy offices.

4. Financial institutions.
5. Retail stores and shops; food, drug,

variety, dry goods, clothing, music,
hardware, equipment, and other similar
light retail uses.

6. Equipment, tool, and event rental
establishments.

7. Personal service establishments which
perform services on the premises, such as:
barber and beauty shops, shoe repairs,
business services, printing, publishing, and
related trades.

8. Places of public assembly, religious, civic,
and social facilities not operated for profit
and facilities customarily incidental thereto.

9. Licensed daycare facilities.
10. Assisted living, extended care, and

licensed group home facilities.
11. Essential service, including public utility

buildings with outside storage.

1. Any permitted use located in a building with a
building footprint of 10,000 square feet or
more, includes drive-through services, offers
live entertainment, or serves alcoholic
beverages.

2. Retail sales and/or rental of automobiles,
watercraft, farming equipment, or recreational
equipment, including servicing, repair, and/or
storing vehicles.

3. Fuel and oil service stations.
4. Hotels and motels.
5. Dwelling units that are part of a commercial

unit, such as second-story "flats" or apartment
units.

6. Multi-family dwellings.
7. Laundry and dry-cleaning establishments.
8. Indoor and outdoor recreational facilities (e.g.,

miniature golf or athletic clubs).
9. Production, processing, assembly,

manufacturing or packaging of goods or
materials. Such facilities may include testing,
repair, storage, distribution, and sale of such
products.

10. Schools licensed or chartered by the State of
Michigan and private educational institutions.

11. Funeral homes.
12. Veterinary clinics, veterinary hospitals, and

related kennel facilities.
13. Carpentry, plumbing, contracting, and other

skilled trades.
14. Rental storage building, with the following

conditions included in the rental contracts and
posted on the premises: Excluding storage of
flammable liquids or gases, explosives or toxic
materials.

15. Places of public assembly, event venues, and
social facilities operated for profit.

16. Sexually oriented businesses.
17. Billboards subject to the standards of Article

XX
18. Any other use of a retail commercial nature

designed primarily to serve the residents of the
area and the traveling public.

4.08 VILLAGE DISTRICT V – INTENT  
The purpose of the Village District is to maintain and enhance the traditional character of the Village of 
Williamsburg while allowing it to develop in a manner that follows the historic pattern of rural villages in 
the Grand Traverse Region. 

107



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-4 

(B) V Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by 
Right 

Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 

1. All uses allowed in
the R1, R2, R3, and
C Districts in
buildings with a
building footprint
that is less than
5,000 square feet

2. Apartments and
offices located
above commercial
uses in mixed-use
buildings with a
building footprint
that is less than
5,000 square feet.

1. Permitted Uses allowed in the R1, R2, R3, and C districts in buildings
with a building footprint of 5,000 square feet or more.

2. Any use in a building which exceeds 5,000 square feet, and any use
which includes drive-through services, and any use offering live
entertainment.,

4.09 INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT N - INTENT 
It is the intent of the Industrial District to provide a dedicated location to accommodate the potential noise, 
outdoor storage, and increased commercial traffic common to wholesale sales and light manufacturing 
facilities. 

A) N Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by 
Right 

Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 

1. All uses permitted
and as regulated
within the
Commercial, Village,
and Residential
Districts.

2. Wholesale
warehouses.

3. Storage warehouses.
4. Outside storage of

earth moving and
similar large
equipment.

5. Billboards, subject to
the standards of
Section X.X

1. Industry or business, the operation of which uses any product or by-
product or other thing which may cause contamination to the water,
air, or land of the area unless adequate provision is made for the
disposition of such product, by-product or waste which meets the
approval of the Planning Commission and shall not be offensive,
objectionable, or in any way endanger public health, safety or
welfare.

2. Junk, scrap metal, or salvage yards.
3. Stock yards, slaughterhouses, rendering plants, meat or pelt

processing establishments.
4. Establishments primarily engaged in heavy industry such as

smelters, foundries, heavy industrial stamping operations.
5. Any similar business or operation offensive or objectionable to public

health, safety, or welfare.
6. All special uses permitted within the Commercial, Village, and

Residential Districts.

4.10 AGRICULTURAL A-1 – INTENT  
The intent of the Agricultural District is to define areas where farming and related activities is the 
predominant land use.     

(A) A-1 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 

108



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-5 

1. All uses permitted and as regulated in
Residential District R- 2

2. Farming of all types, including the
construction and maintenance of migrant
worker's quarters.

3. Golf courses.
4. Riding academies and stables, veterinarian

hospitals and kennels.
5. Roadside stands for the sale of fresh or

processed fruits and vegetables, grown or
produced on said property.

5. Farm Market
6. Agricultural dumps. (See Section XX)
7. Private Family Campgrounds (See Section

XX)

1. Commercial Campgrounds (See Section XX)

4.11 RECREATIONAL RC-1– INTENT 
The intent of the RC-1 Recreational District is to define areas where outdoor recreation and low-density 
residential uses are the predominant land use.     

(A) RC-1 Use Regulations
Uses Permitted by Right Uses Permitted by Special Use Permit 
1. All uses permitted and as regulated in

Residential District R- 2.
2. Bed and breakfast establishments providing

tourist/vacation accommodations.
3. Private Family Campgrounds (See Section

XX)
4. Riding academies and stables, veterinarian

hospitals and kennels
5. Hydro-electric plants.
6. State-owned conservation lands.

1. Planned Unit Developments.
2. Commercial Campgrounds (See Section XX)

4.12 PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Table 4-1 contains primary dimensional requirements for each zoning district. These requirements 
express required spatial relationships between buildings and parcels of land, such as setbacks, lot area, 
and building height.   

109



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-6 

TABLE 4-1  PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS  

Zoning 
District 

Min. 
Lot 

Width 
(ft.) 

Min. 
Lot 

Area 
(sq. ft.) 

Min. 
 Front 

Yard 
(ft.) 

Min. 
Side 
Yard 

(ft.) 

Min. 
Rear 
Yard 

(ft.) 

Max.  
Building 

Height 
(ft.) 

Max.  
Building 

Coverage 
(%) 

Min. 
Width: 

Max. Depth 
Ratio   

Min. 
Dwelling 

Floor 
Area- 
each 

Dwelling 
(Sq. Ft.) 

R-1 100 20,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

R-2 Single
Family 100 12,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

R-2
Two 
Family 

120 22,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

R-3
Single 
Family 

100 12,000 30(3) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) -(9) 1:4 700

R-3 Multi-
Family 120 

11,000 
per 

dwelling 
unit 

30 (3) (8) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

A-1 200 40,000 30(3)(5) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) 1:4 700
RC-1 300 5 Ac. 30(3)(6) 15(3) 30(3) 35(1) 1:4 700

C-1 100 - 50(3)(7) (8) 10(3) 30(3) 35(1) 40% (9) 700

V – With
common 
sewage 
disposal or 
water 
supply. 

80 20,000 0(2) (3) 10(3) 15(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

V - With
common 
sewage 
disposal 
and water 
supply 

50 8,000 0(2)(3) 10(3) 15(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

V -
Without 
common 
water 
supply or 
sewage 
disposal 

100 40,000 0(2)(3) 10(3) 15(3) 35(1) - 1:4 700

N 100 - 50(3) 
Total 30%, 

but not 
less than 
15 ft.(3,8)

30(3) 35(1) 40% (9) 1:4 700

MHP 300 17 Ac. 35(1) 700
LOTS WITH FRONTAGE ON THE BOARDMAN RIVER OR TRIBUTARIES 

1. In no case shall a lot having frontage on the Boardman River or its tributaries be less 200 feet wide at the ordinary
high-water mark, or have a lot depth of less than 200 feet.

2. No structure shall be built within 100 feet of the ordinary high-water mark of the Boardman River or its tributaries.
FRONTAGE ON ALL OTHER LAKES AND STREAMS 

1. No structure shall be built within 50 feet of the ordinary high-water mark of all other Lakes and Streams.
ENCLOSURES/STRUCTURES FOR LIVESTOCK, DOMESTIC ANIMALS (EXCEPT HOUSE PETS)

1. All enclosures/structures for livestock, domestic animals (except house pets) shall be located on a lot that is no less
than 2 ½ acres and may not be located closer than 100 feet from any lot line.

Footnotes  
(1) or 2 1/2 stories above grade (whichever is less)
(2) New buildings shall be constructed so that their front facades are in one of the following locations:

110



ARTICLE 4 – USE REGULATIONS AND PRIMARY DIMENSIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
Page 4-7 

a. The same distance from the road as any adjacent principal building (on the same side of the road)
within 100 feet, or
b. The average distance from the road of both adjacent principal buildings (on the same side of the
road) if within 100 feet, or
c. If no principal buildings are within 100 feet on the same side of the road, the front setback shall be 15
or more feet from the front lot line or such other distance as the Planning Commission may approve by
site plan review.

(3) No structure shall be built within the minimum yards required except when expressly allowed elsewhere
in this Ordinance.

(4) A dock may be constructed parallel to the bank, not exceeding ten (10) feet in length
(5) When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the A-1 Zone, the required front yard setback is 100 feet.
(6) When a lot has frontage on Supply Road, the required front yard setback is 150 feet.
(7) When a lot has frontage on Old 72 in the C-1 Zone, the required front yard setback is 30 feet.
(8) When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required front yard is 75 feet.
(9) When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the maximum building coverage is 33%

When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required lot width is 100 feet.   
When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required rear yard 30 feet.   
When a lot has frontage on M-72 in the C-1, R-3 or N Zone, the required minimum width to depth ratio is 

1:40 

111



This screen shot was taken from the Approved 11/01/2023 PC minutes 
at which a defini�on for “Substan�al Change” was created to aid in the 
Zoning Project efforts moving forward.   

htps://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/wwt_pc_mins_110123_approved.pdf 

112

https://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/wwt_pc_mins_110123_approved.pdf
SteelmanR
Highlight

SteelmanR
Highlight

SteelmanR
Highlight



Zoning Map Discussion: 

There are some concerns with our Townships Zoning Map.  Based on the TB’s 
history and knowledge we ask your assistance in iden�fying the areas of concern 
and/or discrepant informa�on.  If able, please be prepared to answer the 
following ques�ons: 

1. Do you know where and/or how the current published Zoning Map
originated?

2. Is there anything about the Zoning Map that needs to be double
checked/verified, or you are not confident is accurate? (Excep�on being the
Industrial Zone which is a known issue).

3. Thinking about this with a solu�on focused lens, what are your sugges�ons,
and/or ideas for ensuring our Zoning Map is accurate?

113



FY23/24 Budget: 

Currently, all contracts are representa�ve of plan spend through 
the FY.  We do not foresee a need for addi�onal funding. 

FY24/25 Budget: 

The PC Seeks the TB’s guidance in preparing for the FY24/25 
Budget.  Please be prepared to answer the following ques�ons 
related to policy and procedures: 

1. By what date should the PC provide the TB with their
an�cipated budget needs?

2. In what format, should the PC provide the TB with their
an�cipated budget needs?

3. How detailed does the TB prefer to receive the an�cipated
budget needs?

a. Example: Should we include a total number of
mee�ngs an�cipated, breakdown the mee�ng types
(subcommitee mee�ngs, special mee�ngs, public
hearings, etc.), a total dollar amount, or all the
above?

b. Example: Should we breakdown our an�cipated needs
by project (MP & ZP), or line item, or both?

4. What else should the PC know about Budget �me?  We
don’t know what we don’t know and are relying on your
insight, experience, and exper�se to ensure a smooth
transi�on into FY24/25

114



Metropolitan Planning Organiza�on (MPO) Discussion: 

• At the PC’s Regular 10/04/2023 Mee�ng, Rob Carson from Networks
Northwest presented the MPO.  Materials presented and provided by Mr.
Carson are included in this packet for your review.

• At the PC’s Regular Mee�ng on 12/06/2023, the PC made and passed a
Mo�on to make a recommenda�on the Township par�cipate in the MPO.

o Screen shot of DRAFT 12/06/2023 PC Minutes:

htps://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/wwt_pc_mins_120623_dra�.pdf 

• The PC is willing and able to assist the TB in moving forward with the MPO.

• Please share your thoughts and/or a Mo�on to move forward with the
MPO.

115

https://www.whitewatertownship.org/uploads/2/1/9/6/21966412/wwt_pc_mins_120623_draft.pdf


Robert Carson <rob.carson@networksnorthwest.org> 

To:Randy Mielnik 

Cc:Cheryl Goss,Rachel Steelman 

Tue, Oct 17 at 9:02 PM 

Randy, 

Please find attached the following documents: 

• Resolution of Adoption:  This is the resolution adopted by each local participating entity to the
Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative (TTCI).  I've edited the document to reflect
Whitewater Township.

• Intergovernmental Agreement (IA, THE AGREEMENT):  This is the agreement referenced in the
resolution of adoption and outlines the structure of the TTCI MPO Body.  This document would
stand "as is" and would only be edited for Appendix C and Appendix D.

o Appendix C is the membership dues calculations.  Currently the amount for the
entities that are participating is $3,378.13. If Whitewater elects to participate the amount
of dues per entity will be $3,167.00.

o Appendix D lists the participating members.  This would be edited to include Whitewater
Twp on the list.

• TTCI Bylaws Executed 2023-09-12:  This is the current adopted bylaws for the organization.

I'm going to be gone on vacation starting Thursday evening and won't be returning until Oct. 30th. You 
can reach out to Mathew Cooke at <mathew.cooke@networksnorthwest> or Zach Vega at 
<zach.vega@networksnorthwest.org> if you need anything in my absence. 

 Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Thanks, 

Rob 

116

mailto:zach.vega@networksnorthwest.org


1 

Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative 

Resolution # _________________ 

________________, 2023 

RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH AN INTERMUNICIPALITY COMMITTEE UNDER MICHIGAN 

PUBLIC ACT 200 OF 1957 FOR PURPOSES OF TRANSPORTATION PLANNING IN THE 

TRAVERSE STUDY AREA 

WHEREAS,  the urban transportation planning regulations implementing sections of the Federal-Aid Highway 

Act of 1962, and the Urban Mass Transportation Act of 1964, as amended, require that each urbanized area, as a 

condition of receipt of Federal transportation capital or operating assistance, having a continuing, cooperative and 

comprehensive (3-C) transportation planning process that results in plans and programs consistent with the 

comprehensively plan development of the urbanized area; and 

WHEREAS, Michigan Public Act 200 of 1957 provides for the creation, by two or more municipalities, of an 

Intermunicipality Committee for the purpose of studying area problems; and 

WHEREAS, Whitewater Township elected to participate in the formation of the Metropolitan Planning 

Organization through participation in the Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative (TTCI), and 

WHEREAS, the conditions for the participation of eligible entities and the requirements for formation of the 

MPO Policy Board and committees to the board, rules of procedure and overall operation of the collaborative 

body are contained within the attached referenced Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative 

Intergovernmental Agreement for Participants of the Metropolitan Planning Organization, and 

WHEREAS, bylaws for TTCI have been drafted and are attached and referenced as the Traverse 

Transportation Coordinating Initiative (TTCI) Bylaws. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that Whitewater Township authorizes their participation as an eligible 

entity in the creation of what is hereinafter referred to as the Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative 

(TTCI) Metropolitan Planning Organization; 

On a motion made by ___________________ seconded by _______________, to adopt the Resolution  in support 

of the establishment of an intermunicipality committee, under Michigan Public Act 200 of 1957, for the purposes 

of transportation planning in the Greater Traverse Study Area. 

Roll call vote: 

Ayes- ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Nays- ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

CERTIFICATE 

I, _______________________, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of a resolution adopted by the 

Whitewater Township Board, at a regular board meeting, held at the Whitewater Township Hall on XX XX, 2023. 

_____________________________________________ 

Name  

_____________________________________________ 

Title 

117



1 

Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative (TTCI) 

Intergovernmental Agreement 
for Participants of the 

Metropolitan Planning Organization 

Article I. Name 
The name of the inter-municipality committee formed under this agreement shall be the 

Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative, hereafter referred to as TTCI.  The formation of 

this body replaces any former committee which was organized as a precursor to the formal 

establishment of the Metropolitan Planning Organization. 

Section 1.01 Transfer of Balance of Funds 
All funds held under the control of the committee established as the Traverse Transportation 

Coordinating Initiative previous to the execution of this agreement shall be transferred under 

the control of the entity named in Article I. 

Article II. Purpose and Authority 
Michigan Public Act 200 of 1957 provides for the creation, by two or more municipalities, of an 

inter-municipality committee for the purpose of studying area transportation issues of mutual 

interest and concern.  TTCI shall operate and act in compliance with and under the authority of 

Michigan Public Act 200 of 1957 and shall have the duties, privileges and rights prescribed in 

that Act. 

Article III. Fiscal Year 
The fiscal year for TTCI shall be October 1st  through September 30th of the following year. 

Article IV. Duties of TTCI 
The duties of TTCI shall be broad objectives that will encompass, but are not limited to the 

following: 

1. Develop transportation plans and programs and establish processes for the continuing

review of plans, recommendations, and programs to facilitate the movement of persons

and goods in the TTCI Study Area.

2. Design and carry out the assembling and analysis of information pertaining to

transportation with the study area.

3. Coordinate transportation facility implementation and operation within the TTCI Study

Area.

118



2 

4. Review and evaluate the planning and programming of transportation related activities,

projects  and programs within the TTCI Study Area, as they may impact the

transportation system.

5. Assist in project implementation where such projects require organizational, functional

and operational analysis and/or to undertake those implementation functions not

reserved to other agencies or as may be appropriately delegated by such other

agencies.

6. Establish and implement a continuing program of public information regarding

transportation planning, programs and projects.

Article V. TTCI MPO Organization 
TTCI shall be the established transportation planning body for the Census Designated Traverse 

City-Garfield Urbanized Area and TTCI Metropolitan Planning Area.  Representation from 

transportation agencies, transit agencies and units of government which constitute a minimum 

of seventy-five percent (75%) of the US Census defined urbanized area shall meet the legislative 

requirements to seek TTCI MPO establishment; when they have agreed to participate in the 

formation of the inter-municipality committee through the approval and adoption of this inter-

governmental agreement.   

Section 5.01 Census Defined Urbanized Area and Metropolitan Planning Area 

(a) Census Defined Urbanized Area:

The United States Census Bureau conducts decennial census every ten (10) years.  Upon

completion of the decennial census the US Census Bureau conducts a review of data which

supports the designation of urbanized areas.  Following each decennial census, TTCI shall work

with the Michigan Department of Transportation to ascertain changes to urbanized area

boundaries, and shall make necessary revisions to meet the requirements of Michigan Public Act

200 of 1957.  See Attachment A for a map of the urbanized area prescribed by the 2020 US

Decennial Census.  This attachment shall be updated following each decennial census.

(b) Metropolitan Planning Area:

The Metropolitan Planning Area (MPA) is the designated geographic boundary within which the

planning processes prescribed in 23 CFR 450 and 49 CFR 613 is to be carried out.  The

Metropolitan Planning Area shall include all geographic boundaries which contain census

designated urbanized areas and shall also contain geographic unit boundaries of areas which are

forecasted to become urbanized within the next twenty (20) years.  MDOT shall make

recommendation on MPA boundaries following each decennial census with the final MPA

designated by the TTCI Policy Board.  A geographic boundary is defined as a Township, Village

and City civil division boundaries.  See Attachment B for a map of the MPA.  This attachment

shall be updated following each decennial census or as necessary to include expansion of the

planning area boundary.

119



3 

Section 5.02 Eligibility 
All transportation agencies, transit agencies and local units of government, which include within 

their respective service area or civil division boundary, a portion of the defined urbanized area 

or MPA; are eligible for inclusion and participation with TTCI and are referred to as Eligible 

Entities.  A local unit of government is defined as a Village, City, Township or County.  Eligibility 

shall solely be met through this section 5.02 and section 5.03 Member Conditions. 

Section 5.03 Member Conditions 
The following conditions are required of participating eligible entities. 

(a) Voting Rights:

Participating eligible entities are each provided one (1) vote on the Policy Board.  The single vote

shall be administered by the primary or alternate Policy Board Member, and in no case shall

both the primary and alternate Policy Board Member preside at the same meeting and in no

case shall more than one (1) vote be cast by an individual eligible entity.

(b) Planning Organization Dues:

Each participating eligible entity shall pay planning dues in a sufficient amount to meet the

required eighteen point fifteen percent (18.15%) of the Consolidated Planning Grant provided

by MDOT.  Planning due amounts are established in Attachment C, with the prescribed dues

having been certified through approval of this agreement.  Dues shall be paid by each

participating eligible entity each fiscal year upon receiving the invoice, and payment shall be

made within 45 days of the receipt of the invoice.  Attachment C shall be updated each year

following the release of the monetary amount of the consolidated planning grant by the

Michigan Department of Transportation.

(c) Participation:

Participating eligible entities shall make every effort to have their representative attend TTCI

Policy Board, Executive Committee (if applicable), Technical Committee (if applicable), or Ad Hoc

Committee meetings (if applicable).  Participation is fundamental to the successful operation of

the MPO Planning Process(es).  Unexcused absences will be monitoring and relayed to

respective eligible entity’s governing board following the absence. Accumulation of three (3)

unexcused absences within a single fiscal year will cause a formal request by the TTCI Policy

Board for appointment of a new representative by the respective eligible entity.

Article VI. Meeting Standards, Policy Board, and Committees 

Section 6.01 Quorum 
A quorum is required for the conducting of business.  The presence of a simple majority of the 

TTCI Policy Board Membership (as defined in Article VI, Section 6.03.(a) OR the presence of 

three-fifths (3/5) of transportation implementing agencies (BATA, City of Traverse City, GTCRC, 

LCRC, MDOT) and two (2) local units of government shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of 

120



4 

conducting business. Active voting members are those duly appointed representatives whose 

membership dues were paid in the prior budget year. 

Section 6.02 Meeting Operation 
Meeting parliamentary procedure and voting decision processes of the TTCI Policy Board, 
Executive, Technical and Ad Hoc Committees shall operate according to “Robert’s Rules of 
Order”.  All meetings of the TTCI Policy Board and Technical Committee shall operate within the 

requirements of the Michigan Open Meetings Act (OMA), 1976 PA 267, MCL 15.261 et seq.

Section 6.03 TTCI Policy Board 

(a) TTCI Policy Board Membership

Membership on the TTCI Policy Board shall consist of one (1) individual from each participating

eligible entity, whom is designated by the respective entities governing body to serve as their

representative.  Representatives may be members of the governing board, executive staff or

their designee.  Eligible entities shall appoint one (1) primary member to the TTCI Policy Board

and shall appoint a second alternate member to attend in the primary member’s absence.

Designations shall be made by each participating eligible entity at their first meeting of the

calendar year and as otherwise outlined for replacement, with the exception of the initiation of

the board under initial execution of this agreement.  Designations shall be made in writing and

by name provide a primary and alternative representative.  Designations shall occur for each

participating entity that have executed approval of this agreement, and shall include a

representative from the Michigan Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway

Administration as necessary.  TTCI Policy Board Members are provided in Attachment D.

(b) Terms of TTCI Policy Board Members

Policy Board Members shall serve a term of two (2) years, or until their replacement is

designated by the eligible entities governing body.  Policy Board members, whom are elected

officials for eligible local units of government or a member of a governing body of an eligible

agency, shall not serve past the expiration of their elected office for the eligible entity or

expiration of their appointment on the eligible entities governing body.  Members of the Policy

Board who are staff to a participating eligible agency or local unit of government shall not serve

beyond their time of employment with such eligible entity.  A participating eligible entity

membership that has expired due to any of the factors above shall be notified and a new

designee shall be named by the respective eligible entities governing board at that time.

(c) Officers

The TTCI Policy Board shall be served by an Executive Committee comprised of elected officers,

which consist of a Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, a Secretary and a Treasurer.  The officers shall

serve the duties outlined within the Policy Board by-laws.  Officers shall be elected from TTCI

Policy Board members who have served on the Policy Board from initial approval of this

agreement or for a minimum of one (1) year.  The four member Executive Committee shall have

at least one (1) elected City, Village, Township or County representative and at least one (1)

121



 

5 
 

representative of a transportation or transit agency.  Offers shall be elected following a formal 

nomination from another member of the board, followed by a vote of the board; this shall occur 

for each respective officer position.  Election of officers shall be at the first meeting of each 

calendar year or as soon as possible thereafter.  Officers shall serve a term of one (1) year, or 

until a successor is elected.  If a vacancy occurs then an election for that office shall occur at the 

next regular meeting of the Policy Board and that successor shall serve the remainder of the 

existing term. 

(d) Meetings 

The TTCI Policy Board shall hold meetings in accordance with the by-laws of the Policy Board. 

 

Section 6.04 TTCI Executive Committee 

(a) TTCI Executive Committee Established 

The TTCI Executive Committee shall be established through representation of the officers of the 

TTCI Policy Board. 

(b) TTCI Executive Committee Membership 

Membership on the Executive Committee shall follow the procedure outlined in Section 6.03.(c). 

(c) Terms of TTCI Executive Committee Members 

TTCI Executive Committee terms shall follow the standards outlined in Section 6.03.(c). 

(d) Executive Committee Meetings 

TTCI Executive Committee Meetings shall be held and operate in accordance with the TTCI Policy 

Board By-laws. 

Section 6.05 TTCI Technical Committee 

(a) TTCI Technical Committee Established 

The TTCI Technical Committee is hereby established and represented by professional staff of 

participating eligible entities of the TTCI Policy Board with inclusion of representation of other 

entities which are important to the areas transportation planning processes. 

(b) TTCI Technical Committee Membership 

Membership on the TTCI Technical Committee shall occur through designation of a 

representative by each participating eligible entity of the TTCI Policy Board.  A representative 

shall also be included, but not limited to  from each of the following entities; Northwestern 

Michigan College, Traverse City Area Public Schools, Traverse Connect, Cherry Capital Airport 

Authority, Michigan Department of Transportation, Grand Traverse Tribe of Ottawa and 

Chippewa Indians.  TTCI Technical Committee members shall be designated through the process 

established in the TTCI Policy Board By-laws. 

122



6 

(c) Terms of TTCI Technical Committee Members

TTCI Technical Committee terms shall be in accordance with the TTCI Policy Board By-laws.

(d) TTCI Technical Committee Meetings

TTCI Technical Committee Meetings shall be held and operate in accordance with the TTCI Policy

Board By-laws.

Section 6.06 Ad Hoc Committee 

(a) TTCI Ad Hoc Committee Establishment

Ad Hoc Committees, special committees, and subcommittees may be established as deemed

necessary by the TTCI Policy Board to further purposes in keeping with responsibilities and

objectives.

(b) TTCI Ad Hoc Committee Membership

TTCI Ad Hoc Committees membership shall be in accordance with the TTCI Policy Board By-laws.

(c) Terms of TTCI Ad Hoc Committee Members

TTCI Ad Hoc Committee terms shall be in accordance with the TTCI Policy Board By-laws.

(d) TTCI Ad Hoc Committee Meetings

TTCI Ad Hoc Committee Meetings shall be held and operate in accordance with the TTCI Policy

Board By-laws.

Section 6.07 Community Engagement 
TTCI shall meet requirements for citizen input for the planning area through placement of a 

public comment agenda item on each meeting agenda for the TTCI Policy Board and TTCI 

Technical Committee meetings.  Community Engagement events will also be scheduled a 

minimum of two (2) times per fiscal year.  Events may consist of input sessions held at 

community halls or centers, pop-up sessions held in public spaces or through other interactive 

methods which gain public feedback.  The actions outlined within this section shall be included 

in the Public Participation Plan (PPP) which will be updated as necessary through guidance of 

MDOT. 

Section 6.08 Meeting Notices, Agendas and Minutes 

(a) Meeting Notices

All TTCI Policy Board, TTCI Technical Committee and TTCI Ad Hoc Committee meetings shall be

appropriately noticed in meeting the requirements of section 6.02.

(b) Meeting Agendas

All TTCI Policy Board, TTCI Technical Committee and TTCI Ad Hoc Committee meetings shall have

an agenda provided to respective members no later than five (5) days prior to all regular

meetings.

123



7 

(c) Meeting Minutes

Minutes shall be taken and prepared for each TTCI Policy Board meeting, with the Draft minutes

reviewed and voted upon for approval to a Final Copy of the Minutes at the next regular Board

Meeting.

Article VII. Staffing and Support 

Section 7.01 Staffing Arrangement 
The TTCI Policy Board shall contract with the Northwest Michigan Council of Governments (dba. 

Networks Northwest) to coordinate and conduct administration and staffing related to its 

purpose, responsibilities and objectives.  Personnel assigned to TTCI will adhere to a staffing 

plan outlined within each fiscal year’s Unified Work Program, which is approved by the TTCI 

Policy Board.   

Section 7.02 TTCI Board Autonomy 
TTCI shall be a stand-alone entity autonomous from the Northwest Michigan Council of 

Governments (dba. Networks Northwest) Board.     

Section 7.03 Supportive Services 
TTCI may enter into agreements with other public and private agencies, including consultants, 

for all types of surveys and studies relating to its purpose, responsibilities and objectives.  Such 

surveys and studies shall be identified and described in the annual Unified Work Program. 

Article VIII. Unified Work Program Plan & Budget 

Section 8.01 Unified Work Program (UWP) 
A UWP shall be prepared prior to each fiscal year.  The UWP shall meet all necessary State and 

Federal Planning requirements and focus areas.  The UWP shall include all work to be 

undertaken within the fiscal year, outline necessary staffing and support, include action items 

and deliverables and work within a fiscally constrained context of the Consolidated Planning 

Grant.  The UWP shall be reviewed and approved by the TTCI Policy Board prior to submittal to 

MDOT. 

Section 8.02 Budget 
A budget shall be prepared prior to each fiscal year.  The budget shall detail the Consolidated 

Planning Grant (CPG) funds, and local matching funds provided for the required eighteen point 

fifteen percent (18.15%) match.  The budget shall outline expenditures for staffing committed to 

the UWP action items.  The budget shall be included within the UWP and voted upon by the 

TTCI Policy Board for approval. 

124



8 

Article IX. Bylaws 
TTCI Policy Board shall operate under an agreed upon set of by-laws.  By-laws shall uphold and 

not conflict with any provisions of this agreement.  The provisions of this agreement shall always 

supersede the bylaws in guidance of board operation, the processes of the organization and all 

matters contained within this agreement.   

Section 9.01 Adoption 
Bylaws shall be adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the TTCI Policy Board Membership. 

Section 9.02 Amendment 
Bylaws may be altered, amended or replaced at any regular or special meeting of the Board by 

at least two-thirds (2/3) vote for the purpose of bylaw amendment.  A copy of the proposed 

changes to the bylaws shall be filed with the Secretary at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting 

where such action is proposed to be taken and the secretary shall send a copy of the proposed 

change to each representative along with written notice of the time and place of such meeting.  

The Secretary shall also ensure that representatives received their notices at least five (5) days 

prior to such meeting. 

Article X. Amendments to this Agreement 

Section 10.01 Addition or Withdrawal of Eligible Entity 
This intergovernmental agreement shall be amended for addition of any eligible entity and for 

the withdrawal of an eligible entity at any point during a fiscal year.   This agreement shall not 

require approval of each respective participating entity for addition and removal of any eligible 

entity.  Attachment D shall be updated to reflect any changes with eligible entity participation 

levels. 

Section 10.02 Amendment to Update Attachment A (Census Urbanized 

Boundaries) and to Update Attachment B (Metropolitan Planning Area) 
This intergovernmental agreement shall be amended following each decennial census upon the 

release of the updated Urbanized Area boundaries and whenever an adjustment is made to the 

Metropolitan Planning Area Boundary.  The amendment shall only include updates to 

attachments A and B.   This amendment shall require only a simple majority vote of the TTCI 

Policy Board. 

Section 10.03 All Other Amendments 
All other amendments to this agreement shall require approval of the TTCI Policy Board and the 

governing body of each participating entity.  The process for amendments shall be: 

1. Desired amendments shall be brought forth and placed on a TTCI Policy Board

Agenda for discussion and voting.

125



9 

2. A simple majority vote of the TTCI Policy Board shall move to amend a draft of

the agreement.

3. The amended draft agreement will be taken to each respective participating

eligible entity’s governing board for approval.

4. Once approval from each respective participating eligible entity’s governing

board is received, the amended draft agreement will be voted upon by the TTCI

Policy Board for adoption of the amendment.

5. A two-thirds (2/3) vote of the TTCI Policy Board shall be necessary for final

approval of the amended agreement.

Article XI. Addition of Eligible Entities 
Eligible entities as outlined in Section 5.02 with ability to comply with the conditions of Section 

5.03 may be added to TTCI during any part of the fiscal year.  The process for addition of an 

eligible entity is as follows: 

1. The eligible entity shall petition in writing, directed to the TTCI Policy Board, a formal

request to be included as an entity of TTCI.

2. TTCI Staff shall review the request and determine if the entity meets the eligibility

requirements.

3. The request shall then be placed on an upcoming regular meeting Agenda of the Board

for the action to be considered, through the approval of an amendment to this

agreement as outlined in Section 10.01.

4. The Amendment shall place the name of the eligible entity in Attachment D as outlined

in Section 6.03.(a)

5. Upon TTCI Board approval of the amendment, the eligible entity to be added to TTCI

must obtain approval of this agreement from their respective governing board.

6. Upon approval of the agreement by the respective governing board, the entity shall pay

the required yearly dues as outlined in Section 5.03 (b) and Attachment C for the current

fiscal year in which they will be added.

7. The eligible entity shall be considered a member of TTCI upon paying of the required

due.

8. The bylaws shall be updated to include the eligible entity as a member of TTCI in

accordance with Section 9.02 of this agreement.

Article XII. Withdrawal of Eligible Entities 
An eligible entity may withdrawal from TTCI at any time during the fiscal year.  An eligible entity, 

which withdrawals from TTCI shall not be reimbursed for any portion of their dues for any past 

and current fiscal year.  The process for withdrawal of an eligible entity is as follows: 

126



10 

1. The eligible entity shall petition in writing, directed to the TTCI Policy Board, a formal

request to withdrawal from TTCI.

2. The request for withdrawal shall be placed on the next upcoming regular meeting

Agenda of the TTCI Policy Board, with action requested.

3. The TTCI Policy Board shall take action on the request and amend the agreement as

outlined in Section 10.01.

4. The amendment shall include removal of the entity name from Attachment D under

Section 6.03.(a).

5. The eligible entity shall be considered withdrawn from TTCI once the amendment has

been approved.

6. The bylaws shall be updated in accordance with Section 9.02.

Article XIII. Removal of Entity 
An entity which no longer meets the conditions of this agreement, and is considered an Inactive 

Member under Article XIV of this agreement, may be removed from TTCI by a simple majority 

vote of the TTCI Policy Board. 

Article XIV. Inactive Membership Status 
Any entity which is a member of TTCI and has not paid its annual dues in accordance with 

Section 5.03.(b) or no longer meets the eligibility requirements of 5.02 shall be considered an 

“Inactive Member”, and shall no longer have authority to preside at TTCI Policy or any 

respective Committee meetings.  The entity’s “Inactive Member” status shall be referred to the 

Executive Committee for appropriate action.  Appropriate action may include Removal of the 

Entity under Article XIII or a request to the entity to meet the condition of Sections 5.02 and 

5.03. 

Article XV. Adoption 
Upon original adoption of this Intergovernmental Agreement by the legislative body of each 

participating eligible entity as outlined in Section 5.02, such adoption shall be evidenced by the 
accompanying adoption resolution referencing this agreement.

127



11

Attachment A:  U.S. Census Defined TC-Garfield Urbanized Area (2020) 

128



12

Attachment B:  Metropolitan Planning Area (2023) 

129



13

Attachment C:  Membership Due Calculations 

Dues shall be set at an equal proportion of the required 18.15% match to be met by each participating 

eligible entity.  The dues shall be calculated for the consolidated planning grant amount provided to TTCI 

by the Michigan Department of Transportation for each fiscal year.  The Consolidated Planning Grant 

match required for Fiscal Year 2024 shall be $50,671.95.

FY 2024 Calculation:

Fourteen (15) eligible entities sign onto the agreement:

$50,671.95 / 15 = $3,378.13

Each of the 15 participating eligible entities would match in the amount of $3,378.13

Local Match FY 2024 TTCI
Represented Entities              FY2024 Match
Acme Township 3,378.13
Bay Area Transportation Authority                3,378.13
Bingham Township 3,378.13
Blair Township 3,378.13
Charter Township of East Bay 3,378.13
Charter Township of Elmwood 3,378.13
Charter Township of Garfield 3,378.13
Charter Township of Long Lake 3,378.13
Grand Traverse County 3,378.13
Grand Traverse County Road Commission            3,378.13
Green Lake Township 3,378.13
Leelanau County 3,378.13
Leelanau County Road Commission                3,378.13
Peninsula Township 3,378.13
Traverse City 3,378.13
Total Local Match      50,671.95

130

robcarson
Line

robcarson
Line

robcarson
Line



14

Attachment D:  TTCI Eligible Entity Membership FY 2024

Acme Township

Bay Area Transportation Authority 

Bingham Township

Blair Township

Charter Township of East Bay 

Charter Township of Elmwood 

Charter Township of Garfield 

Charter Township of Long Lake 

Grand Traverse County

Grand Traverse County Road Commission 

Green Lake Township

Leelanau County

Leelanau County Road Commission 

Peninsula Township

Traverse City

131



1 

TRAVERSE TRANSPORTATION COORDINATING 

INITIATIVE (TTCI) 

BYLAWS 

ARTICLE I. NAME OF ORGANIZATION 

The name of the organization shall be the Traverse Transportation Coordinating Imitative,  an 

Intermunicipality Committee established under Act 200 of 1957 of the Public Acts of Michigan, 

and shall be hereinafter referred to as the TTCI. 

ARTICLE II PURPOSE AND RESPONSIBILITY 

Section 1. Purpose. TTCI is established to provide coordinated leadership and direction for the 

development and conduct of a continuing, cooperative, and comprehensive transportation 

planning process in the Traverse City-Garfield Urbanized Area. As a program of Networks 

Northwest, TTCI shall constitute the forum for cooperative transportation decision-making by 

principal elected officials of general purpose local governments and representatives of 

transportation based agencies to develop US Census Designated Traverse City- Garfield 

Urbanized Area multi-modal transportation plans and programs. 

Section 2. Responsibility. TTCI shall develop transportation plans and programs for the Greater 

Traverse Area, in coordination with local, county, regional, and state plans and programs. The 

Traverse City-Garfield Urbanized Area is defined by the US Census Bureau.  The Metropolitan 

Planning Area (MPA) of TTCI shall encompass the local civil divisions of the City of Traverse 

City, the Charter Townships of Garfield, Elmwood, East Bay, Long Lake and the General Law 

Townships of Acme, Peninsula, Blair, Bingham, Green Lake and Whitewater. 

Section 3. Objectives. 

a) Maintain a transportation planning process and improvement plan for the

Metropolitan Planning Area which meets Federal and State requirements and

ensures the area's eligibility for capital and operating funds.

b) Pursue, develop and maintain system and subsystem plans and programs for the

various modes of transportation which use the area's major streets, roads and

highways.

c) Integrate and coordinate transportation plans and programs with existing and

future plans and programs within the region, as defined by the State of

Michigan, and the Michigan Department of Transportation.

d) Recommend transportation programs and projects which are consistent with

the general transportation goals of the community and its transportation based

agencies,

e) Maintain continuously updated pertinent information about the

area's transportation systems.

f) Assist local and state implementation agencies in developing

transportation projects.  Collaborate with local, regional, state, and federal

132



2 

transportation planning agencies in developing transportation plans and 

projects. 

g) Operate the urbanized area transportation planning program in a responsible

and efficient manner.

h) Provide for and encourage public involvement in TTCI's transportation planning

activities.

i) Solicit and accept appropriate gifts and grants which will assist in the

accomplishment of TTCI objectives.

ARTICLE III. MEMBERSHIP 

Section 1. General. Voting membership shall consist of the municipalities and entities which are 

listed in Section 4 and which execute the “Traverse Transportation Coordinating Initiative 

(TTCI) Intergovernmental Agreement for Participants of Metropolitan Planning Organization” 

hereafter referred to as “THE AGREEMENT”. Each member shall be entitled to representation 

on the TTCI Policy Board as hereinafter provided. With administrative and staffing assistance 

from Networks Northwest, all affairs of TTCI shall be managed by the Board. Voting members 

whose sponsoring agency becomes delinquent in any cost assessments, matching funds or other 

financial obligations to TTCI, shall be subject to review by the TTCI Policy Board. 

Section 2. New Members. New members may be added to the Board according to the 

procedures outlined in THE AGREEMENT Article XI. 

Section 3. Withdrawal of Membership. Any member may withdrawal its membership according 

to the procedures outlined in THE AGREEMENT Article XII. 

Section 4. Voting Members. Voting members shall consist of one member from each of the 

following: 

City of Traverse City 

Charter Township of Garfield (G.T. County) 

Charter Township of Elmwood (Leelanau Co.) 

Charter Township of East Bay (G.T. County) 

Acme Township (G.T. County) 

Bingham Township (Leelanau County) 

Blair Township (G.T. County) 

Peninsula Township (G.T. County) 

Green Lake Township (G.T. County) 

Charter Township of Long Lake (G.T. County) 

Grand Traverse County Board of Commissioners 

Leelanau County Board of Commissioners 

Leelanau County Road Commission 

Grand Traverse County Road Commission 

Michigan Department of Transportation 

Bay Area Transportation Authority 

133



3 

Section 5. Designation of Representatives and Alternates. 

Membership on the TTCI Policy Board shall consist of one (1) individual from each participating eligible 

entity, whom is designated by the respective entities governing body to serve as their representative.  

Representatives may be members of the governing board, executive staff or their designee.  Eligible entities 

shall appoint one (1) primary member to the TTCI Policy Board and shall appoint a second alternate 

member to attend in the primary member’s absence.  Designations shall be made by each participating 

eligible entity at their first meeting of the calendar year and as otherwise outlined for replacement.  

Designations shall be made in writing and by name provide a primary and alternative representative.  

Designations shall occur for each participating entity that have executed approval of this agreement, and 

shall include a representative from the Michigan Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway 

Administration as necessary.  See Section 4 of these bylaws for Voting Members. 

ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS 

Section 1. General. The TTCI Executive Committee shall consist of the Chairperson, a Vice- 

Chairperson, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. Policy Board members are eligible to be elected to 

the Executive Board once they have served on the Policy Board for a minimum of one year. The 

four-member Executive Board shall have at least one elected City, Village, County or Township 

official plus one representative of a Transportation Agency. 

Section 2. Duties of the Chairperson. The Chairperson shall set the Policy Board meeting agenda, 

preside at all meetings, appoint such committees as shall be deemed necessary, appoint standing 

committees with the approval of the TTCI Policy Board, and perform such other duties as may be 

delegated by the TTCI. The Chairperson shall have the full right to propose motions and vote on 

all motions and resolutions. The Chairperson shall be an ex-officio member on all committees. 

Section 3. Duties of the Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall preside at meetings in 

the absence of the Chairperson and perform such other duties as may be delegated by the 

Chairperson or the Board. 

Section 4. Duties of the Secretary. The Secretary shall keep a record of all meetings of the 

TTCI; keep a record of all plans, programs, and other material brought before the Committee; 

notify the TTCI of all meetings; and provide agenda for all meetings. 

Section 5. Duties of the Treasurer. The Treasurer shall keep a record of all financial transactions 

of the TTCI, provide periodic financial reports to the TTCI, and generally perform the traditional 

duties of this office. 

Section 6. Delegation of Duties. The duties of the Secretary and/or Treasurer may be delegated 

to the TTCI Professional Staff assigned from Networks Northwest, or another appropriate 

individual. The secretarial and financial duties may be delegated separately or together and may 

be delegated to different individuals. 

 Section 7. Nomination of Officers. The Chairperson shall at the November meeting (or as soon 

134



4 

as possible thereafter) appoint a Nominating Committee to present nominations for the offices 

of Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, Secretary and Treasurer at the December meeting (or as 

soon as possible thereafter). Nominations for all officers may be presented from the floor with 

the consent of the nominee. 

Section 8. Election of Officers. Election of officers of the TTCI shall be at the first meeting of 

each calendar year or as soon as possible thereafter. 

Section 9. Terms of Office. The terms of office shall be for one calendar year or until a 

successor is elected. 

Section 10. Vacancy of Office. If a vacancy occurs in any office during the year, the TTCI 

Board of Directors may fill the vacancy at any regular meeting by a simple majority vote of 

those representatives present.  Appointments made to fill vacancies shall fill the remaining 

term of the vacancy. 

ARTICLE V. STAFFING 

Section 1. Personnel. The Board contracts with Networks Northwest to coordinate and 

conduct administration and staffing relating to its purpose, responsibilities and objectives. 

Personnel assigned to TTCI will adhere to a staffing plan approved by the Policy Board. 

Section 2. Other Agencies. The Board may enter into agreements with other public and private 

agencies, including consultants, for all types of surveys and studies relating to its purpose, 

responsibilities and objectives. Such surveys and studies shall be identified and described in the 

annual Unified Work Program. 

ARTICLE VI. SUBCOMMITTEES/ADVISORY COMMITTEES/TASK FORCES 

Section 1. Establishing Subcommittees. Advisory Committees, and Task Forces. The Board 

may establish such subcommittees, advisory committees and/or task forces as are deemed 

necessary to further its purpose in keeping with its responsibilities and objectives. 

Section 2. Standing Subcommittees, Advisory Committees and Technical Advisory Committee 

Standing subcommittees or advisory committees shall be established by the approval of the 

Board. Standing committees and advisory committees may develop their own Bylaws, subject to 

the approval of the Board, and not in conflict with THE AGREEMENT. 

Section 3. Other Subcommittees and Special Topic Groups. Other subcommittees and/or special 

topic groups may be established to address specific functional areas or individual issues as 

deemed appropriate. 

 Section 4. Executive Committee. The Executive Committee is established in THE 

AGREEMENT as a standing subcommittee. The Executive Committee is responsible for 

135



5 

reviewing various items relating to TTCI's management and administration. The membership of 

the Executive Board is described in Article IV, Section 1. 

Section 5. Technical Committee. The Technical Committee shall advise the Governing Board 

on matters requiring technical planning expertise. The Technical Committee’s makeup shall 

consist of only one (1) representative from each member agency of TTCI. TTCI requests that 

each member agency designate its Technical Committee representation with preference to 

engineers, planners, and zoning administrators (in order of preference). Governing Board 

members may not serve on the Technical Committee as means to better delineate roles and 

diversify participation in TTCI. Technical Committee meetings are open to the public; however, 

all deliberations and actions for the purposes of advising the Policy Board are done by Technical 

Committee membership only. 

ARTICLE VII. MEETINGS AND AGENDAS 

Section 1. Regular Meetings. The schedule of regular meetings of the TTCI shall be established 

at the first meeting of the calendar year. These meetings shall take place at a time and location 

established by the Board. 

Section 2. Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson, by a majority 

vote of the Board, or upon written request to the Chairperson by three (3) or more Board 

members. 

Section 3. Changes in Meetings. In the event that a regular meeting falls on a holiday, a 

substitute meeting shall be set by the Board. A cancellation or change in the date of a scheduled 

meeting shall be communicated to the representatives as promptly as possible. 

Section 4. Open Meetings. All Board meetings shall be open to the public and shall be held in 

conformance with Act 267 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1976, as amended, known as the 

"Open Meetings Act.” 

Section 5. Notices of Meetings. Notices of all regular meetings, including agenda, shall be 

provided to the Board members and posted to the general public no later than five (5) days prior 

to the meeting. 

Section 6. Agendas. An agenda shall be provided to Board members no later than five (5) days 

prior to all regular meetings. Where practicable, an agenda will also be mailed for special 

meetings. The Chairperson has the responsibility of determining the agenda. 

ARTICLE VIII. RULES 

Section 1. General. Except where specific rules and procedures are set forth herein, Robert's Rules 

of Order shall govern all meetings. 

136



6 

Section 2. Quorum. A quorum shall be required before any formal action can be taken on agenda 

items. The presence of a simple majority of the current active voting members (members as 

defined in Article III, Section 4) OR the presence of three-fifths (3/5) of transportation 

implementing agencies (Bay Area Transportation Authority, City of Traverse City, Grand 

Traverse County Road Commission, Leelanau County Road Commission, Michigan Department 

of Transportation) and two (2) municipalities shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of 

conducting business. Active voting members are those duly appointed representatives whose 

membership dues were paid in the prior budget year. 

Section 3. Actions by the Board. Except where otherwise specifically stated within these 

bylaws or within THE AGREEMENT, formal adoption of a motion or resolution or other 

action shall be with the assent of a simple majority of the assigned votes of those 

representatives at the meeting, with at least a quorum present. 

ARTICLE IX. UNIFIED WORK PLAN, 

FUNDS AND BUDGET 

Section 1.  Unified Work Plan.  TTCI shall undertake the development of an annual Unified 

Work Plan (UWP) in accordance with the requirements of State and Federal Agencies.  The 

TTCI Policy Board shall direct staff to develop the UWP, present the draft plan to the Policy 

Board, and Policy Board Members shall review, provide comments and adopt the UWP at their 

discretion. 

Section 1. Budget and Cost Allocation Formula. The Board shall annually adopt a budget as a 

part of the Unified Work Plan (UWP). The budget shall be prepared and approved in accordance 

with Michigan Department of Transportation guidelines and timelines.  No funds shall be 

expended without an approved budget. 

Section 3. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year shall start October 1 and end September 30. 

Section 2. Receipt of Funds. All funds received from local contributions or other sources shall 

be deposited in a specially designated account by the designated fiscal agent, Networks 

Northwest.  A record will be maintained of all funds received by the TTCI, including interest 

payments. 

Section 3. Expenditure or Obligation of Funds. The TTCI Board, assigned Networks Northwest 

staff, may cause the expenditure or obligation of funds, if such expenditure or obligation is 

within the budget approved by the Board and appears to be reimbursable.   Examples of such 

approved expenditures or obligations include salary and fringe benefit costs, indirect costs of 

operation associated with the conduct of doing business, and direct costs identified in the budget. 

The expenditure or obligation of funds which are either not budgeted, not reimbursable or may 

not be reimbursable requires the approval by a simple majority vote of the Board.  A continuous 

record of all funds expended or obligated by the TTCI Board, assigned Networks Northwest 

staff, shall be maintained. 

Section 4. Audit. A competent and independent individual or firm on an annual basis shall audit 

137



7 

the records of receipts, expenditures and obligations in conjunction with the overall Networks 

Northwest audit, and the results of the audit shall be provided to the TTCI Board. 

Section 5. Financial Reports. The Treasurer, assigned Networks Northwest staff, shall provide 

financial reports to the Board at each regularly scheduled Board meeting, and shall prepare an 

annual report which can be included in the final Audit Report. 

Section 6. Code of Conduct. The Board shall maintain a written Code of Conduct which shall 

govern the participation of its members, officers, agents and employees engaged in the award 

and administration of all contracts.

138



8 

ARTICLE X. AMENDMENTS 

Section 1. Procedure of Amendment. These Bylaws may be altered, amended or replaced at any 

regular or special meeting of the Board by at least two-thirds vote of the representatives of the 

voting members, each having one (1) vote for the purpose of Bylaw amendment. A copy of the 

proposed changes shall be filed with the Secretary at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting 

where such action is proposed to be taken, and the secretary shall send a copy of the proposed 

change to each representative along with written notice of the time and place of such meeting. 

The Secretary shall also ensure that representatives receive their notices at least five (5) days 

prior to such meeting. 

Section 2. Continuation and/or Conflict. The Bylaws will remain in full force and effect until 

such time as amendments are made and approved or until it may be determined the Bylaws are 

found to be in conflict with the laws or regulations of the State of Michigan or the United States 

of America. 

Approved by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on August 30, 1990 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on January 28, 1993 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on September 23, 1993 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on January 27, 1994 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on September 17, 1998 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on April 12, 2006 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on May 15, 2007 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on January 27, 2009 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on June 16, 2009 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on October 16, 2012 

Amended by the TC-TALUS Board of Directors on August 18, 2015 

Amended by the TTCI (formerly named TC-TALUS) Board of Directors on May 17, 2016 

Amended by the TTCI Board of Directors on September 18, 2018 

Amended by the TTCI Policy Board of Directors on XX XX XXXX 

139


	Special Joint Meeting TB PC Agenda 12.13.23
	PPT for Joint Meeting
	Whitewater Township Master Plan and Zoning Update
	Overview 
	Master Plan Update
	Timeline / Milestones 2023
	Master Plan Next Steps 
	Master Plan - Projected Process 2024
	Zoning Clarification Project  
	Zoning Project Goals – 
	Zoning Project Goals – 
	Zoning Project Goals – 
	Zoning Project - Timeline / Milestones 2023
	Zoning Project - Expected Timeline 2024

	MP 1-4 Link
	LIAA Summary
	ADP4456.tmp
	Whitewater Township Planning Principles, Goals, and Implementation
	Planning Principle:  Respect the Rights of the Township Residents and Property Owners.
	Context: The rights of residents and property owners can be infringed upon in several ways.  These include:
	1. No one is served by poorly drafted or ambiguous zoning requirements that create confusion, permitting delays, and legal challenges.  
	2. A lack of consistent zoning enforcement can leave property owners unprotected from nuisances and diminish property values.  
	3. Blighted areas in Whitewater Township reduce property values and discourage investment. 
	4. Existing permitted and special uses in various zoning districts may create land use conflicts (i.e., residential uses are currently allowed in the industrial zone).
	5. Effective and reasonable landscaping requirements in the zoning ordinance can mitigate visual and noise impacts between dissimilar land uses.    

	Planning Principle:  Preserve Whitewater Township’s Rural Character
	Context: Residents value the rural character of Whitewater Township and want to preserve it.   Additionally: 
	1. To residents, the area's rural character is the presence of orchards, farm stands, other agricultural land, woodlots and forests, and extended views of undeveloped land across the landscape. 
	2. Preserving rural character also includes protecting the environmental integrity of the Township floodplains, wetlands, watersheds, and water bodies.
	3. Land east of Cook Road on M-72 is largely zoned A-1. 
	4. There is strong support for agricultural tourism as a broad category of activities that can include roadside stands, u-pick operations, and other activities incidental to the operation of a farm that brings members of the public to the farm for educational, recreational, or retail purposes.   

	Planning Principle:  Build a Sense of Community
	Context: Like many small rural communities, Whitewater Township lacks a defined downtown and sense of place common in cities and villages.  However, Williamsburg was once a commercial center, but many buildings are now gone.   Additionally:   
	1. Three out of four survey respondents want to encourage redevelopment of Williamsburg, north of M-72, into a downtown-type setting with small-scale retail, commercial services, restaurants, and upper-floor housing.
	2. Most, if not all, of the land uses in Williamsburg (south of M-72) are now residential (except for the Township Hall and the Methodist Church). 
	3. Places for social and cultural activities and interaction (farmers market, car shows, concerts, senior programs, etc.) are limited (except for the township park).  
	4. The area west of Elk Lake Road and North of M-72 is zoned “V” (Village).
	5. Residents point to the need to develop more convenient bike trails and walking paths in Whitewater Township.  More non-motorized transportation options in Whitewater Township would help build a sense of community. 

	Planning Principle:  Encourage Economic Opportunities
	Context: Whitewater Township is pro-business and seeks to provide an environment wherein people can succeed economically. Additionally: 
	1. Whitewater Township has an industrial area (generally south of M-72, West of Williamsburg Rd and east of Moore Road).  It is home to several light industrial uses that provide jobs and a local tax base.  
	2. The M-72 corridor (west of Cook Road) presents opportunities for new commercial development. Residents generally desire smaller building footprints (75,000 square feet or less), mixed uses (potentially retail, services, office, residential, etc.), controlled signage, limited driveways, limited site lighting, and extensive landscaping.  



	Master Plan Resident Outreach Subcommittee
	TB Role in MP
	PC May 17th Doc
	IMPROVE ORGANIZATION OF THE WHITEWATER TOWNSHIP ZONING ORDINANCE V2
	DRAFT WHITEWATER ZONING 9_26_23 WITH MARKUP
	DRAFT WHITEWATER ZONING 9_26_23 NO MARK UP
	11.01 Minutes Definition of Change
	Zoning Map Discussion
	Budget discussion
	MPO Discussion
	Rob Carson Email MPO for Joint TB PC Meeting
	Whitewater Twp_Resolution Adoption TTCI Intergovernmental Agreement and Bylaws_2023-10-17
	TTCI_Intergovernmental Agreement_Final_Board Approved for Trasfer to MDOT_2023-09-14
	TTCI  Bylaws_Executed_2023-09-12 (1)



